

Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

K. M. Lewin P. Wasanga E. Wanderi A. Somerset

CREATE PATHWAYS TO ACCESS Research Monograph No. 74

November 2011





University of Sussex Centre for International Education



The Consortium for Educational Access, Transitions and Equity (CREATE) is a Research Programme Consortium supported by the UK Department for International Development (DFID). Its purpose is to undertake research designed to improve access to basic education in developing countries. It seeks to achieve this through generating new knowledge and encouraging its application through effective communication and dissemination to national and international development agencies, national governments, education and development professionals, non-government organisations and other interested stakeholders.

Access to basic education lies at the heart of development. Lack of educational access, and securely acquired knowledge and skill, is both a part of the definition of poverty, and a means for its diminution. Sustained access to meaningful learning that has value is critical to long term improvements in productivity, the reduction of intergenerational cycles of poverty, demographic transition, preventive health care, the empowerment of women, and reductions in inequality.

The CREATE partners

CREATE is developing its research collaboratively with partners in Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia. The lead partner of CREATE is the Centre for International Education at the University of Sussex. The partners are:

The Centre for International Education, University of Sussex: Professor Keith M Lewin (Director) The Institute of Education and Development, BRAC University, Dhaka, Bangladesh: Dr Manzoor Ahmed The National University of Educational Planning and Administration, Delhi, India: Professor R Govinda The Education Policy Unit, University of the Witwatersrand, South Africa: Dr Shireen Motala The Universities of Education at Winneba and Cape Coast, Ghana: Professor Jerome Djangmah, Professor Joseph Ghartey Ampiah The Institute of Education, University of London: Professor Angela W Little

Disclaimer

The research on which this paper is based was commissioned by the Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity (CREATE http://www.create-rpc.org). CREATE is funded by the UK Department for International Development (DFID) for the benefit of developing countries and is coordinated from the Centre for International Education, University of Sussex. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of DFID, the University of Sussex, or the CREATE Team. Authors are responsible for ensuring that any content cited is appropriately referenced and acknowledged, and that copyright laws are respected. CREATE papers are peer reviewed and approved according to academic conventions. Permission will be granted to reproduce research monographs on request to the Director of CREATE providing there is no commercial benefit. Responsibility for the content of the final publication remains with authors and the relevant Partner Institutions.

Copyright © CREATE 2011 ISBN: 0-901881-88-0

Address for correspondence: CREATE, Centre for International Education, Department of Education School of Education & Social Work Essex House, University of Sussex, Falmer BN1 9QQ United Kingdom

 Author email:
 k.m.lewin@sussex.ac.uk

 tonysomers@aol.com

 Website:
 <u>http://www.create-rpc.org</u>

 Email
 <u>create@sussex.ac.uk</u>

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

> K. M. Lewin P. Wasanga E. Wanderi A. Somerset

CREATE PATHWAYS TO ACCESS Research Monograph No. 74

November 2011

Contents

Preface	vi
Summary	vii
1. Introduction	1
2. Changing Patterns of Participation in Education	3
2.1 Changing Enrolments	3
2.2 Changing Patterns of Attrition	6
2.3 Patterns of Enrolment by Gender	9
2.4 Over-age Progression	12
2.5 Urban and Rural Attainment	
3. Exploring Participation, Age, Gender and Performance in Depth – A Case Study in Kenya	
3.1 Education Structures, Selection Examinations, and Secondary School Stratification	
3.2 Recent National Trends in the Age of KCPE Candidates, and the Impact of FPE, 2003	
3.3 The Impact of FPE 2003	22
3.4 Age and KCPE Performance	24
3.5 Regional variations in the proportions of over-age KCPE candidates	27
3.6 Girls' Participation and Performance in the KCPE Examination.	.31
3.7 Regional Variations in Girls' KCPE Participation	32
3.8 Girls' KCPE performance	35
3.9 Girls' KCPE Performance in Specific Subjects	37
4. Concluding Remarks and Policy Implications	41
4.1 Age, Participation and Performance in Kenya	41
4.2 Gender, Participation and Performance in Kenya	42
4.3 The Evolution of Patterns of Participation across Countries	44
References	
Annex 1: KCPE 2010: Age and gender statistics by county	.48

List of Figures

Figure 1: Enrolments by Year and Grade; Sub Saharan Africa	5
Figure 2: Enrolments by Grade and Year in Sub Saharan Africa	8
Figure 3: Gross Enrolment Rates and % Girls by Grade and Year in Sub Saharan Africa	10
Figure 4: Gender Parity Index by Gross Enrolment Rate Primary in Sub Saharan Africa	11
Figure 5: Gender Parity Index by Gross Enrolment Rate Secondary in Sub Saharan Africa	11
Figure 6: Age and Zones of Exclusion	13
Figure 7: Age-in-grade Distributions	15
Figure 8: Urban Rural Attainment	17
Figure 9: Age Distribution of KCPE Candidates, 1996-2010	21
Figure 10: Kenya Primary School Survival Curves, 1993-2006	23
Figure 11: Proportion of Over-aged KCPE Candidates 17-20 Years Old, 1998-2010	24
Figure 12: Mean Total Score by Age, 2010	25
Figure 13: Percentage of Candidates Achieving Scores of at least 380 and 320 by Age, 2010	27
Figure 14: Number of Girls Sitting KCPE for Every 100 Boys, 1994-2010	31
Figure 15: Age Distribution of KCPE Candidates by Gender, 2010	36
Figure 16: Mean Total KCPE Score by Age and Gender, 2010	37
Figure 17: Relative Performance of Boys and Girls in Selected Subjects, 1979 - 2010	38

List of Tables

Table 1: Stratification Among Kenya's Public Secondary Schools	.20
Table 2: Mean 2007 KCPE Scores of Repeaters and Non-repeaters; Nyeri District and Nairobi Ci	ty
	.25
Table 3: Gender Differences in Mean KCPE Total Scores, 2001, 2006 and 2010	.35

List of Maps

Map 1: Proportion of Over-age KCPE Candidates, 2010	30
Map 2: Girls' Participation in the KPCE Examination, 2010	33

Acknowledgements

We wish to acknowledge the willing support and co-operation of staff at the Kenya National Examination Council (KNEC) which made the analysis of large scale data from examination performance possible. We thank Kennedy M Mutuku of KNEC for his invaluable assistance in preparing the maps, and other staff of KNEC who supported this research. We also thank Jimena Hernandez Fernandez for her able assistance in data analysis of the national data sets across countries in Sub Saharan Africa on participation and age-in-grade.

Preface

This paper addresses important issues that arise from analysis undertaken by CREATE of changing patterns of access to education and their correlates. It is based on research commissioned by CREATE to explore changing patterns of access and explore relationships between performance, age, gender and location. The draft findings were first presented in plenary at the annual meeting of the Association for Educational Assessment in Africa in Nairobi in August, 2011 to about 350 delegates.

It is clear that the story of Education for All since Jomtien has taken many different forms in different countries. Data on participation across eight sub Saharan African countries is used to explore how participation has changed. Some have made fairly steady progress in increasing access and participation, others have seen rapid gains followed by periods of stagnation, and others have failed to make much progress. Analysis of enrolments by year and grade shows the realities that have superseded the promises to universalise access. This is important to appreciate because future progress depends on a robust and accurate understating of how things *are*, not how they *ought* to be after 20 years of EFA. Planning must see inside the box of aggregated statistics on participation that conceal how high enrolment rates across a whole schooling cycle may hide very low completion rates. They may also make invisible the transient effects of policy initiatives that fail to sustain gains in participation over time.

The analysis by gender illustrates how much has been achieved in relation to gender parity, and that there is still a road to travel. It is clear from this analysis and comparison with participation rates and household income that poverty is usually far more important than gender as a predictor of educational exclusion. And in most cases it is also more important than location and rurality.

Age-in-grade varies widely across grades and all low enrolment countries appear to have a wide dispersion of age-in-grade. No high enrolment country has wide age-in-grade variation. This is critical to learning, especially where curricula are mono-grade not multi-grade. Progression at an appropriate age is essential for successful learning linked to learning tasks matched to capabilities.

The second part of this monograph explores participation and performance in the primary school leaving examination in one country – Kenya – in relation to age, location, and gender, in order to probe in more depth aspects of the relationships between these variables. The findings are compelling and reinforce the messages from the cross national data. Age is strongly correlated with performance, differences between boys and girls have been diminishing, and location does relate to performance but in complex ways.

The analysis leads to policy recommendations which could lead to improved performance, greater equity and less wastage in school systems in Sub Saharan Africa.

Summary

This paper explores aspects of exclusion from education and how patterns of participation have been changing using national data sets. The first part of the analysis uses administrative data from countries in Sub Saharan Africa to chart enrolments by grade over the last decade and explore how enrolment has been changing in terms of grade, gender, and age. After establishing key issues that are raised by the data across eight countries the paper develops a detailed case study of changes in participation and performance in Kenva using data from the Kenva National Examinations Council. The study shows that the aspirations of Education for All remain far from being met in many countries and many of those who enrol in Grade 1 fail to complete primary or lower secondary school. Progress has been patchy and it remains the case that over enrolment in the lower Grades is common (with more enrolled than there are children in the relevant age group as a result of over-aged entry and progression), and less than half the age group progressing through lower secondary school. Gender equity in enrolments is being approached in the eight countries included in the analysis but patterns differ and are contextually located. In all the countries many of those enrolled remain seriously over-age, and urban rural differences persist in enrolment status. The detailed case study of data from Kenya complements the cross national analysis. It shows how uneven growth in participation has been after the announcement of free primary education, and how strongly patterns vary by county. Strikingly it confirms that older children score on average much lower on the Kenya Certificate of Primary Education (KCPE) than younger children, and that this is likely to exclude older candidates from the best secondary schools. This is a source of considerable inequity since over-age status is associated with poverty.

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

1. Introduction

Since the World Conference on Education for All at Jomtien in 1990 and its commitments to universalise access to primary education enrolments in schools in Sub-Saharan Africa have grown greatly. Encouragingly, enrolment rates in primary schools have improved and the estimated numbers of children out of school in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) has fallen from about 42-million in 1999 to about 29-million in 2009. Gross enrolment rates across SSA now average 102%. Net enrolment rates, which exclude the over-age, are less, averaging about 76% suggesting that only about three-quarters of primary school age children in SSA are enrolled (GMR 2010).

Girls are participating much more than in the past and the Gender¹ Parity Index averages about 0.95 indicating that gender parity in enrolments is not far from being achieved in many countries. But some countries are making slow progress and there are still some places where boys in school outnumber girls by 20%. Having more boys than girls in school is strongly associated with low overall enrolment rates, high rates of repetition, many over-age children in school. and greater persistence of boys rather than girls at older ages. Most middle and higher enrolment countries have more girls than boys enrolled, especially in higher grades.

At secondary school level the magnitude of exclusion is much greater than at primary. In many of the poorest countries more than half of all children fail to enrol at secondary level. Of these who do fewer than half will complete a full cycle of secondary schooling and qualify for any further education and training. Those who succeed will be overwhelmingly from richer rather than poorer households. The chances of the poorest 20% completing secondary school can be as little as a tenth that of the richest. And if there are gender gaps in participation in primary schooling, they are almost always larger at secondary level.

In reality there are far more than 60 million primary age children whose right to basic education is denied. Many fail to attend regularly, are seriously over-age for the grades they attend, and alarming numbers do not achieve basic skills after 6 years or more of schooling. If these "silently excluded" children are counted then the numbers without meaningful access to primary schooling are well over 250 million. And, if the basic education cycle includes lower secondary, then this number is itself a substantial underestimate of the children whose right to education is compromised.

This paper² explores some particular aspects of exclusion and its recent evolution using national data sets, and illustrates some of the key issues of age, gender, location and performance with reference to recent work in Kenya with the National Examination Council. The next section presents data on enrolments by grade over time in eight countries. This is used to illustrate how much the flow of students through these systems has, and has not, changed since 1990 and comment on some of the possible reasons. In most of the countries the effects of selection examinations are visible at transition points to lower and upper secondary. This leads to consideration of patterns of participation by gender, by age-in-grade, and by location in the same countries. The work of the Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity (CREATE) has

¹ The Gender Parity Index compares Gross Enrolment Rates for girls with those for boys.

² The analyses in this paper were developed within the general research framework provided by the Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity (CREATE). The first section is based on analysis by Keith Lewin and of administrative data from Ministries of Education across several countries in Sub-Saharan Africa. The analysis of Kenya Certificate of Primary Education data was undertaken by Paul Wansanga, Ephraim Wanderi and Tony Somerset with support from the Kenya National Examination Council.

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

highlighted how many children are seriously over-age in many Sub Saharan education systems with powerful consequences for their chances of completing primary and secondary school. It is not uncommon for as many as 30% of children in primary school to be over-age by three or more years in our Anglophone sample. Francophone countries have fewer over-age children in their systems but often have fewer enrolled. Those who are most over-age are more likely to have dropped out (Lewin and Sabates, 2011). It is probable that being over-age disproportionately disadvantages girls. None of the eight education systems have pedagogy and curricula designed to recognise wide age-in-grade variance with the probable consequence that learning is adversely affected. From household survey data across thirteen countries it is clear that children who do not progress to the end of primary school and transit to secondary are overwhelmingly poorer and more likely to be over-age than those who progress through the system.

The third section develops a case study of performance in the Kenya Certificate of Primary Education (KCPE) which is taken in grade 8 and determines transition into different types of secondary school. It has been possible to track in detail how the age, gender and location of candidates has changed over the last two decades. It is also possible to establish the strength of the correlation between age-in-grade 8 and performance in the selection examination. The final discussion collects together and summarises insights from the case study in Kenya and from the cross national data sets and distils policy relevant conclusions.

There are few if any good reasons why children should be over-age. All high-enrolment countries with high primary school completion rates have small proportions of over-age children enrolled. If being over-age is strongly associated with much greater risk of drop out, low achievement, and a low probability of progressing to secondary school then it is something that must be addressed much more actively than it has been to date. It is a matter fo4r concern that in several countries the numbers over-age have increased rather than decreased as participation rates have improved. This would seem to guarantee that universal access will remain a goal rather than an achievement, especially since over-age children are disproportionately from disadvantaged groups and because being over-age almost certainly reinforces other likely causes of exclusion from education. Reducing the numbers over-age should improve completion rates and could reduce differences in outcomes associated with poverty.

2. Changing Patterns of Participation in Education

Research on changing patterns of access has analysed large scale cross national data sets to understand the evolution of participation, why universalising access has proved so elusive, and what lessons can be learned from the last thirty years (Lewin, 2011; 2009; Lewin and Sabates, 2011; Oketch and Somerset, 2011; Somerset, 2007; Little 2008; Rolleston, 2009; Chimombo, 2009; Akyeampong, 2009). This section explores data from eight countries - Uganda, Malawi, Kenya, Ethiopia, Tanzania, Ghana, Zambia, and South Africa - to deepen understandings of access to education.

Recent research using national samples from thirteen sub-Saharan African countries from the 1990s and 2000s allows comparisons of enrolments over time (Lewin and Sabates 2011). This analysis shows that though overall participation has increased, the chances of the children from the poorest households enrolling and progressing through school relative to the richest households have generally not improved substantially. In some case they have deteriorated. Poorer children are more likely to be over-age and unlikely to complete schooling especially if they are girls. Girls are more likely to be out of school than boys in most of the Francophone countries but not in most of the Anglophone countries. Rural children remain more likely to be over-age (Lewin and Sabates, 2011). Reductions in the number of children out of school have occurred but this has often been accompanied by an increase in the proportion of children over-age for the grade in which they are enrolled. This was not anticipated and is almost certainly deleterious to efforts to universalize access through to successful completion of the basic education cycle.

2.1 Changing Enrolments

The changing patterns of enrolment over time in African countries are illustrative of the problems that have hampered attempts to universalise access to basic education, generally taken to consist of eight or nine years of schooling to the end of lower secondary school. Using administrative data from school censuses allows time series of enrolments by grade to be plotted. Figure 1 shows the results for eight African countries indicating how enrolments in each Grade over the basic education cycle have changed in different years. Children in a particular grade would normally be expected to be promoted to the next grade the following year. A high-enrolment low-attrition system would therefore show enrolment lines that were parallel and close together. This is only true in South Africa. It is clear that the evolution of participation has been very different in different countries.

In Uganda Universal Primary Education (UPE) was announced in 1997 and enrolments in Grade 1 more than doubled. However, these Grade 1 children did not arrive in Grade 7 seven years later as the cohort track on the chart shows. The system reached a new equilibrium with high drop out and many over-age children. The numbers reaching Grade 7 in 2007 were only about half the number in an age cohort. In the last two years there appears to have been an acceleration of enrolment growth in Grades 6 and 7 as a result of new efforts to meet enrolment targets in advance of 2015. Completion rates remain well below those necessary for EFA to be achieved. Indeed the data shows that there was much "queuing" in Grade 6 as schools kept back children likely to fail the Grade 7 primary school leaving certificate (Lewin, 2007b).

In Malawi a similar patterns is evident with over enrolment in Grade 1 persisting year after year. The proportion of students graduating from Grade 8 has remained fairly similar despite a dramatic increase in total enrolments, and remains about a quarter of those enrolled in Grade 1. Attrition remains alarmingly high (Chimombo, 2009) ad there is no sign it is diminishing.

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

Kenya also has a similar if less extreme pattern of enrolment growth. The most recent announcements of free primary schooling have generated peaks in enrolments in Grade 1 which are not fully translated into peaks in subsequent Grades indicating that not all progress. Grade 8 has at least 20% fewer enrolled than Grade 7 indicating as in Uganda that queuing is taking place in Grade 7 as schools hold back those unlikely to do well in the primary leaving certificate.

In Ethiopia over a ten year period there has been a considerable improvement in the numbers entering Grade 1. A peak in mid decade was followed by a trough that itself was followed by another peak in 2008 reflecting national initiatives. These gains have yet to reach the higher grades but it does appear that more will complete the primary cycle than in the past and that real gains are being made in participation.

Tanzania has had two attempts at UPE and this is clearly visible in the chart. The last attempt appears more successful than the first when large enrolment gains were followed by a steep fall off in participation in the 1980s (Lewin, 2009, Sabates, et al., 2011b). In Tanzania there were clearly two waves of enrolment growth linked to attempts to universalise primary education. The progress made in the late 1970s after the Arusha declaration stalled in the 1980s. It was revitalised by the 2002 initiative to make primary school free and available to all. Rapidly increasing enrolments in Grade 1 have been reflected in greater enrolments in higher Grades and in a narrowing of the gap between enrolments in Grade 1 and Grade 7.

In Ghana Free Compulsory Basic Education (FCUBE) led to enrolment growth with only a small step upwards in the late 1980s. The gap in enrolments between Grade 1 and Grade 6 has remained fairly constant over 20 years, suggesting drop out and completion rates failed to improve. Fee free schooling linked to capitation payments to schools had an impact on enrolments in 2005. This appears to be a one off gain in total enrolments which is being sustained. However it does not appear to have had much effect on attrition (Akyeampong, 2011). In Zambia enrolment growth in Grade 1 has stabilised since 2007 after a period of growth linked to the most recent announcements on free primary schooling. Grade 7 enrolments remain about 60% of those in Grade 1.

South Africa has a different pattern. Since 2000 it has had high levels of enrolment through to Grade 9. The great majority of those who enter the system progress through to the end of the general education phase. Grade 9 enrolments have been converging with those in Grade 1 in a pattern typical of high enrolment countries. There is however evidence that although the enrolment rates are high they continue to include substantial numbers of over-age children.

Figure 1: Enrolments by Year and Grade; Sub Saharan Africa



Malawi



Kenya



Ethiopia



Tanzania



Ghana



Zambia



South Africa



2.2 Changing Patterns of Attrition

A different way of presenting the same data provides more insight. Figure 2 shows the same eight countries but this time showing all grades up to Grade 12 over the last ten years only. In addition a line is drawn on each chart which indicates the size of the age group in 2010 for each grade. As a rough proxy if there was full enrolment and no drop out then the enrolment lines would follow the child population line with about the same gradient.

It is very clear from these charts that in all the countries except South Africa there are more children enrolled in Grade 1 than there are in the population of children by age in 2010. The tip over points (where the number enrolled becomes less than those in the relevant child population) vary from Grade 3 (Ethiopia), Grade 5 (Uganda, Malawi, Ghana), Grade 7 (Tanzania and Zambia), and Grade 10 in South Africa. It is important to note that the difference between those enrolled and those in the age group is a proxy for the proportion of children benefiting from a basic education at each grade level. Because those enrolled include those repeating this sets an upper limit to the likely participation rate at any grade level. From these profiles it is very clear that drop out remains a serious problem despite the fact that all these countries have Gross Enrolment Rates over 100%.

Examination of the charts draws attention to other features. In Uganda the bulges in enrolments in 2008/9 and 10 in the later primary Grades are indicative of new efforts to reduce drop out and increase completions rates. Despite moves towards tuition free secondary schooling participation remains well below the nominal numbers in each age group at all secondary level grades.

In Malawi it is clear that drop out has remained very high with those in Grade 8 representing only about half of the number of 14 year olds. Very small numbers enrol at secondary level in Grade 9 and above. There is further drop out after Grade 10 at the transition tom upper secondary. In Kenya enrolments remain high through to Grade 7 and then fall steeply to Grade 8 as a result of queuing – children are held back from Grade 8 if they are likely to fail the KCPE. The numbers in Grade 9, the first year of secondary are only about 50% of those in Grade 8, and are about 50% of the size of the age group. Since many are over-age less than half of Kenyan children are likely to be entering secondary school.

In Ethiopia attrition appears very high in the first three years. It is likely that this fall in enrolments over estimates drop out since many in the first three grades are over-age and may be repeating and some may be under age. Above Grade 3 fewer are enrolled than there are children in the nominal age group.

In Tanzania it is clear from the administrative data that since 2002 those who have entered Grade 1 have largely remained enrolled. The shape of the enrolment curve has been transformed and a much higher level of equilibrium has been established. This appears to track the nominal number of children in the age range. The effects of abolishing fees at secondary level in government schools are evident in increased enrolments in Grade 8 and above. These remain far from universal levels but may approach those in neighbouring Kenya if current trends are maintained.

In Ghana there has been an increase in enrolments through to Grade 9 every year for the last decade. There has been little change in the rate of drop out between grades. The gains in enrolment in Grade 1 in 2005 reflect the introduction of a capitation system that was coupled with tuition fee abolition. Since then other factors have encouraged growth to continue. Transition to Senor Secondary School (SSS) remains available to a minority who are less than a third of the age group. Zambia has made considerable progress in increasing the entry to Grade 1. As in Ghana the rate of

attrition has not fallen and may have increased. Grades 8 and 9 have been incorporated into the first cycle of the basic school system and this is reflected in increased enrolments.

In South Africa the numbers enrolled in Grade 1 are similar to those in Grade 9. They are also comparable to the number in the nominal age group for each grade. There are different estimates of how many of those enrolled are over-age, and how many are out of school. It seems probable that 3% - 5% remain unenrolled and between 10% and 20% are over-age-in-grades 1 to 9.

Figure 2: Enrolments by Grade and Year in Sub Saharan Africa



Malawi



Kenya



Ethiopia



















2.3 Patterns of Enrolment by Gender

The third set of charts (Figure 3) provide insights into enrolments by gender and allow comparisons of the ratio of boys to girls with Gross Enrolment Rates by grade. The general point to note is that in all cases except South Africa the percentage of girls enrolled falls as the grade level increases. However, in these countries differences in enrolments between girls and boys are relatively small below Grade 6, and in most cases girls are more than 45% of total enrolments up to Grade 9. This means that well over 90% of girls and boys have the same enrolment status which for the majority is being enrolled. Only in Ethiopia does the pattern show girls being less than 45% of total enrolments at higher grade levels. In South Africa, as is the case in other Southern African countries not included in this analysis, there are more girls than boys enrolled, especially at the higher grade levels.

By contrast to these small differences by grade by gender, it is clear that Gross Enrolment Rates in all the countries fall rapidly by grade. Each country has its own distinct pattern. The largest differences in the proportion of girls enrolled tend to be where GERs are lowest, as in Ethiopia. Other data from household surveys (Lewin and Sabates, 2011) make it very clear that poverty is the strongest correlate of exclusion from higher grades.

Figure 3: Gross Enrolment Rates and % Girls by Grade and Year in Sub Saharan Africa



Malawi



Kenya



Ethiopia













Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

Analysis of data across 44 countries in Sub Saharan Africa confirms the tendency for gender differences in enrolment to be linked to overall enrolment rates (Lewin (2007). Figures 4 and 5 show that at both primary and secondary level in Sub Saharan Africa the Gender Parity Index is correlated with GERs in ways that indicate higher GERs are more likely to result in less difference in enrolment between boys and girls. This may suggest that interventions to support girl's education must encourage increases in overall enrolment rates, especially at higher grade levels. Those countries with the greatest disparities in favour of boys in enrolments are all low enrolment rate countries.



Figure 4: Gender Parity Index by Gross Enrolment Rate Primary in Sub Saharan Africa

Figure 5: Gender Parity Index by Gross Enrolment Rate Secondary in Sub Saharan Africa



2.4 Over-age Progression

In Sub Saharan Africa many children are over-age for the grades they attend. In some poor areas more than half of children are over-age by two years or more. In rural Africa it is common to assess school readiness by the size of a child especially where birthdates are unknown. In some of our household samples many children are stunted, almost guaranteeing late enrolment. Repetition of grades is endemic in systems which have low completion rates. This exacerbates the numbers of children over-age. Girls are especially disadvantaged by being over-age. No high completion system has a wide range of age-in-grade.

Conventional measures of patterns of access conceal the way age-in-grade varies (Lewin, 2011d). The evolution of age-in-grade relationships is important for several reasons. First, children who enrol above the normal age of entry will miss learning experiences at a time when they are most receptive to learning basic skills and establishing secure foundations for cognitive development.

Second, those who repeat Grade 1 or subsequent grades will become over-age for their grade. The more over-age a child is within a grade the more it is likely that they will underachieve (Taylor et al, 2010).

Third, where older children are taught in class groups with younger children there may be psychosocial issues (e.g. of self esteem, bullying, genderual harassment) and problems of matching learning to cognitive capabilities (especially with monograde curricula where all pupils are taught the same things at the same time).

Fourth, over-age children will be late to arrive at the last grade of primary or junior secondary school. Where the age of initial entry is six or seven, primary school leavers in a six grade system will be 12 or 13. If they are two years over-age, they will be 14 or 15. This approaches the ages of entry to the labour market and of marriage. It is unlikely most will continue further.

Figure 6 shows how participation can change with age and is linked to the CREATE zones of exclusion. It indicates that in this system, which is based on data from Ghana, about 40% of six year olds are not in school. This falls to about 10% by age 11. Above this age those who have not enrolled are unlikely to ever enrol (zone 1).

From age 7 and above some children drop out and the number gradually increases with age. These become the largest number of out of school children above 11 years old and fall into zone 2 of the CREATE model. Children who enrol but are at risk of drop out and are characterised as low attending, over-age, repeating years and poor achieving fall into zone 3 and gradually become an increasing proportion of those still enrolled in primary grades.

From 12 years and above some make the transition into secondary school though if they fail to do this by the age of 15 or so it becomes increasingly unlikely that they will complete lower secondary successfully.



Figure 6: Age and Zones of Exclusion

Data on age-in-grade illustrates common patterns. Figure 7 shows this. In Uganda over enrolment in Grade 1 includes children between the ages of 5 and 10 years. Enrolments from Grade 2 to 7 are substantially less and include increasing age dispersion. By Grade 7 the age range is between 12 and 20 years. Similarly Malawi has a pattern of over-age enrolment where the spread of ages within a grade increases greatly from Grade 1 to Grade 8. There is even more attrition than in Uganda with only a small minority surviving to Grade 8. Some children in Grade 8 are likely to be over 18 years old and would thus not complete junior secondary until they were well over 20 years old.

In Kenya age on entry may be as much as 10 or 11 years. By Grade 8 children are between 12 and 20 years old making it unlikely that the older children will progress to secondary school, especially if they are girls. The dispersion of ages increases with Grade making it likely that wide mixed age teaching groups will present a challenge to orthodox monograde pedagogies. Ghana and Zambia have similar profiles to Uganda, Malawi and Kenya with differences in detail. In these countries there is a sequential reduction in enrolments by grade coupled with widening age-in-grade spread from about five years in Grade 1 to eight years in Grade 6 or 7.

Botswana³ presents a contrasting picture. Here most children are in the appropriate grade for their age in lower grades. There is some increase in the range of ages but much less than in most of the other countries. Tanzania is more like Botswana than most of the other countries. Here the data indicates that most children are within two years of the correct age for their grade. This is a striking change from the 1990s when the distribution of age-in-grade in Tanzania resembled other East African countries. South Africa resembles Botswana in its distribution of age by grade. For higher grades there are clearly pedagogic issues since there are children in the same grade with a six or seven year age difference. The oldest will be over 20 years before completing matriculation and the twelfth grade. It is more likely they will drop out not much beyond grade 9.

There are many variations on these patterns across countries. In most cases the dispersion in age within a grade increases with the grade level though primary school. Access to secondary schooling is selective. Often the process tends to select out those who are over-age completing primary school since those who are older often have poorer performance. It can therefore be the case that age-in-grade dispersion is less at secondary level (Lewin and Sabates, 2011). If the age-in-grade range remains wide it is inevitable that most will not complete primary and junior secondary. All countries or regions which succeed in universalising enrolment and completion of primary and

³ Botswana has been substituted for Ethiopia in these charts since data is unavailable on the latter.

junior secondary have low dispersions of age-in-grade. Ensuring enrolment and progression on schedule is a low cost lever on participation that offers large gains at modest costs.



Figure 7: Age-in-grade Distributions







Botswana





Ghana









2.5 Urban and Rural Attainment

Using Demographic and household survey data it is possible to gain some insight into how patterns of educational attainment have been changing over time. By exploring the highest level of education reached by different age groups a picture of participation over the last thirty years can be established. Figure 8 show this for a range of different countries. It should be noted that the patterns for the youngest age group underestimate participation since it is probable that some in the age group will attain more years of schooling before completing or dropping out.

All the countries show that there is a strong effect of urban residence on participation. Urban children are more likely to complete the lower grades and much more likely to reach the secondary grades. This effect appears very marked in Uganda, Malawi, Ethiopia, Ghana and Mozambique. In Kenya the effect is mall in the lower grades and gradually increases. In Tanzania the urban rural gap has narrowed considerably and is not strongly related to grade.

In Zambia and Tanzania the effects of selection to secondary schools are evident with large reductions in participation especially amongst older age groups. Many secondary schools are urban or rural and residential with predominantly urban children attending.

These charts are indicative of continued gaps in access to education associated with rurality. But these have been changing and are generally smaller than in the past. These changes have been accompanied by changes in the proportion of the population that is rural as in all the countries urban migration is significant and can exceed 5% a year. This is generating large informal settlements around some cities e.g. in Capetown, Durban and Johannesburg in South Africa and in Nairobi in Kenya. In these areas schooling opportunity often lags population and generates urban out of school children. This is not visible in the existing data sets.



Uganda



Malawi



Kenya



Ethiopia





Ghana



Zambia



Mozambique



3. Exploring Participation, Age, Gender and Performance in Depth – A Case Study in Kenya

The changing patterns of enrolment discussed above raise many questions about what has been achieved over the last two decades in different countries and what the prospects are for the next decade. The evidence indicates that drop out remains a very considerable problem in all the countries except perhaps South Africa, where there is ample evidence that participation is high but levels of achievement are very disappointing. Though primary enrolments have increased in all the countries it is also clear that completion rates have not improved as fast as the number entering Grade 1 has grown. Primary completers remain a small proportion of the number of children of the appropriate ages. In all the countries surveyed, girls are enrolled in near-equal proportions with boys in the early grades, and in most cases gender parity at primary level is being approached. Alongside these changes the number of children who are over-age for their grade level has remained high and may have increased. This has yet to become a prominent issue in policy dialogue but it is likely to be central to the reasons why sustained gains in overall enrolments are not being reflected in much greater completion rates. Moreover it is likely that being over-age is a function of poverty, and closely associated with low achievement.

The next sections of this paper build on the insights from the changing patterns of access presented in this paper thus far. Drawing on the archives of the Kenya National Examination Council, the case study discusses recent trends in participation and performance in the country's primary leaving examination: the Kenya Certificate of Primary Education, or KCPE. It analyses the effects of candidates' age, gender and locality, and examines the impact of the 2003 Free Primary Education initiative (FPE 2003).

The KCPE archive includes subject-level performance records for every candidate, in every school, back as far as 1994. It constitutes an invaluable research resource; nevertheless it is important to recognise its limitations. We know each candidate's age and gender, together with the name and location of the primary school he or she attended, but nothing about the families and communities they came from, nor the classroom contexts in which they received their education. Equally important, the archive includes no information which enables us to differentiate candidates educated in mainstream, fee-free public schools from the small, but growing, minority who have attended fee-charging private schools.⁴

In the following section we set a context for our analysis. First we outline changes in the structure of the Kenya education system since Independence in 1963, and the changing role which selection examinations have played within that structure. Then we discuss the stratification of secondary-school provision, and its consequences for the life chances of Kenya's primary school leavers.

3.1 Education Structures, Selection Examinations, and Secondary School Stratification

For the first two decades after Kenya's Independence in 1963, formal education was delivered through a four-cycle structure: a seven-year primary cycle, followed by four years of secondary education, leading to two years of higher secondary education, and finally to a three-year undergraduate degree programme. The flow through each of the three transition points between cycles was regulated by performance in highly-competitive selection examinations. Out of every

⁴ Evidence from other sources indicates not only that private-sector provision of primary education is expanding rapidly, but also that a widening performance gap between private-school and public-school KCPE candidates is developing

100 pupils embarking on their primary education around the time of independence, no more than one or two could expect to surmount all three selection hurdles successfully, and hence qualify for a university place thirteen years later.⁵

In 1985, however, a simplified, three-cycle structure replaced the previous structure: the seven-year primary cycle was extended to eight years; the two secondary cycles were amalgamated into a single four-year cycle, and the undergraduate cycle was extended from three to four years. Similarly the number of selection examinations was reduced from three to two. Popularly known as the 8-4-4 system, this structure continues through to the present day.

The first of the two current selection examinations, the Kenya Certificate of Primary Education (KCPE), will be the main focus of this analysis. It regulates recruitment of primary leavers into the secondary schools, in a process controlled by the Ministry of Education. Subsequently the Kenya Certificate of Secondary Education (KCSE) regulates post-secondary recruitment, but in less-direct fashion: after the examination, candidates receive a certificate recording their achievement, which they then use to seek admission to a university, or as 'currency' in the jobs market.

During the early years of independence a place at secondary school was a privilege accessible only to a favoured minority of primary leavers: the transition rate was less than 20%. But over the next two decades there was steady progress towards wider access. By 1972-73 the rate had reached 30%, and by the late 1980s had risen further to between 45% and 48%. Subsequently, however, progress stalled: during the first five years of the new millennium, transition rates ranged between 41% and 46% - marginally lower than they had been during the late 1980s. There was little change until 2007 – one year in advance of the introduction of free secondary-school tuition in 2008. Since then the rate has risen dramatically, to an estimated 70% by 2010. Costs, direct and indirect, are now a more substantive barrier to secondary school access than KCPE performance.⁶

Nevertheless the KCPE remains a high-stakes examination, with profound consequences for candidates' life chances. Kenya's secondary schools are formally stratified into a three-tier hierarchy on the basis of their catchment areas - and KCPE results determine which tier candidates are entitled to enter.

- **National** schools, currently just 18 in number, form the top tier. They are highly selective: only about 1% of KCPE candidates, recruited from all over the country on a district quota basis, win places.⁷ The national schools include among them the earliest secondary schools in the country, some dating back to the 1920s or 1930s. In consequence, they are 'strong' institutions; buttressed by a long history and with influential alumni to support them. The KCPE performance level needed to qualify for a national school varies from district to district, and some national schools are more selective than others. In general, however, a total score of at least 380 (out of a theoretical maximum of 500) is required; often 400 or higher for the most prestigious schools.

- **Provincial** schools form the middle tier. Although some date back to the colonial period, many were established during the first decade of Kenya's independence, when expansion of

⁵ In the late colonial period there were, for African pupils, no fewer than four selection hurdles. The additional hurdle came after just four years of schooling, breaking the primary cycle into two truncated cycles of four years each. Less than one-third of the pupils sitting this selection examination qualified for the upper-primary cycle.

⁶ For a careful analysis of secondary school costs, before and after the abolition of tuition fees in 2008, see Obha (2009)

⁷ Proposals currently being discussed would expand the national school system dramatically. Each of the 47 new counties to be established under the new Kenya Constitution in 2012 would have two national schools.

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

secondary education was a high policy priority. They recruit from within the province where the school is located, again on a district quota basis. Provincial schools are moderately selective: about 20% of KCPE candidates qualify. Recruitment requirements vary widely, but for an established secondary school a well-developed district a KCPE total score of at least 320 is likely to be needed.

- **District** schools constitute the broad base of the secondary education pyramid: at the bottom of the status hierarchy, they make up about 70% of all public secondary schools in Kenya. Most district schools are relatively young; many were originally set up through local community initiative as self-help *Harambee* schools. Unlike the national and provincial schools, district schools do not as a rule have boarding facilities: they recruit local pupils, living for the most part within walking distance. Some district schools set a minimum KCPE score for entry; others are virtually non-selective.

A recent analysis compared the performance of secondary leavers in Central Province, according to the type of school they had attended (Oketch and Somerset, 2010). It was found that among the 2007 leavers from the seven national schools located in the province, as many as two-thirds achieved a grade of B+ or better in the terminating Kenya Certificate of Secondary Education (KCSE) examination - the score needed at the time to gain a maintained place at a public university. By comparison, leavers from the 111 provincial schools were much less successful, only about 7 percent achieving the qualifying grade. But the leavers from the 587 district schools lagged far behind: the proportion qualifying for a maintained university place was as low as one in 200.

It is clear, then, that for primary-school leavers with aspirations to continue their education not only to secondary school but ultimately to university level, performance in the KCPE examination is crucial. For the tiny minority who perform well enough to gain entry to a national secondary school, the prospects of a publicly-funded university education are excellent; whereas for the majority who qualify for a district secondary school only, the prospects are slim indeed.

Table 1 summarises the key features we have highlighted in our discussion of Kenya's stratified secondary-school system⁸.

		Selectivity		
School type	Proportion of total sec. schools	% KCPE candidates admitted	Minimum KCPE score required	Leavers' chances of maintained university place*
National	< 1% (18 schools)	c. 1%	c. 380	> 50%
Provincial	c. 20%	c. 25%	c. 320	c. 7%
District	c. 80%	Variable (High)	Variable (Low)	c. 0.5%

Table 1: Stratification Among Kenya's Public Secondary Schools

In the next section we employ data from the archives to analyse current and recent age trends among KCPE candidates. We discuss the effects of FPE 2003, and examine the association between age and KCPE performance.

⁸ Central Province secondary school leavers, 2007

3.2 Recent National Trends in the Age of KCPE Candidates, and the Impact of FPE, 2003.

Many young children in Kenya start their education at the age of three or four years, in a nursery school or pre-school unit. However formal schooling begins at six or seven years, when pupils enter Grade 1 of the eight-year primary cycle. Those who pass through this cycle without interruption should enter the final grade, and sit the KCPE examination, when they are 13 or 14 years of age.

Figure 9 shows the age distribution of KCPE candidates in various years between 1996 and 2010. Two major trends are apparent: candidates became, on average, gradually younger over this fifteenyear period; but nevertheless their ages continued to be distributed over a broad range.



Figure 9: Age Distribution of KCPE Candidates, 1996-2010

In 1996 the modal (most common) age was 16 years; but by 1998, two years later, a small change in the shape of the distribution curve had brought about a drop in the peak age to 15 years. The 15-year-olds remained the largest group for a decade, but the numbers of 14-year-olds rose steadily, until in 2008 they became the modal group for the first time.

But notwithstanding this downward trend in the modal age, there are nevertheless still many pupils in the older age groups. In 1996, the proportion of KCPE candidates aged 15 years or older was a little over 70%. This proportion fell gradually in subsequent years, but in 2010 still amounted to about 60%. It can be seen from Figure 9 that the 2010 age distribution was more strongly right-skewed than the distributions for earlier years. There were in fact more KCPE candidates aged between 17 and 20 years in 2010 than there had been in any previous year.

As a shorthand for the purposes of subsequent analysis, we define pupils aged 17 to 20 as *over-age* (at least three years older than the expected 13-14 years).⁹ Employing this definition, around 19% of 2010 KCPE candidates were over-age. Candidates of appropriate age, 13 or 14 years, made up 40% of the population; while the 15- and 16-year-olds made up the remaining 41%.

These over-age candidates fall into three distinct, if overlapping, groups:

- First, the **late entrants**: pupils who were more than seven years old when they first entered Grade 1;

- Second, the **repeaters**: pupils who repeated one or more grades during the primary cycle;

- Third, the **returnees**: pupils who dropped out from school, and subsequently returned to resume their education (in recent years, often as a consequence of FPE 2003).

Without longitudinal follow-up data from a cohort of primary school entrants, it is impossible to determine which of the three groups is largest. Some KCPE candidates, of course, will be in two or even all three groups: dropouts, for example, are frequently required to repeat a grade when they return to school.

3.3 The Impact of FPE 2003

Any analysis of current age trends among KCPE candidates must take into account the effects of the Free Primary Education (FPE) initiative of 2003.¹⁰ These effects are clearly apparent in Figure 10, which shows cohort survival curves starting with the Grade 1 intake of 1993 and following through the FPE year and on to 2006.¹¹

 $^{^{9}}$ This is of course a conservative definition. A strong case could be made for setting the lower age boundary at 16 or even 15 years. Small numbers of candidates aged 21 and over are excluded. A high proportion of these are likely to have been enrolled in adult education programmes.

¹⁰ FPE 2003 had in fact been preceded by two earlier programmes also directed at achieving free primary education in Kenya; the first in 1974, the second in 1979. Sifuna (2007) and Somerset (2009) provide analyses of these previous initiatives.

¹¹ An earlier version of this chart has been published elsewhere (Somerset 2009, Fig 5). The curves are constructed by linking the Grade 1 enrolment in each year to the Grade 2 enrolment in the following year; and so on through to Grade 8. Being constructed from cross sectional rather than longitudinal data, the curves are of course not true cohort curves: they are shaped by repetition and re-entry as well as by dropout.



Figure 10: Kenya Primary School Survival Curves, 1993-2006

It is evident that FPE 2003 had profound consequences for the basic education system in Kenya:

- The Grade 1 intake jumped sharply, from 970,000 in 2002 to 1,300,000 in 2003, an increase of nearly 35%. Prior to 2003, intakes had been on a plateau for more than a decade, a consequence of the introduction of substantial school fees in 1988, as a component of the IMF-promoted cost-sharing programme.¹² Almost certainly, most of the additional entrants recruited in 2003 were over-age; encouraged to start a delayed education by the prospect, after the prolonged cost-sharing period, of free schooling.

- Enrolments in Grades 2 to 7 also increased, although by lower proportions. Clearly many pupils returned to school, to resume an interrupted education. Most of these would certainly have been over-age.

These FPE recruits – the large group of late-enrolees and the smaller groups of returnees – passed through the primary cycle between 2003 and 2010; the returnees reaching Grade 8 between 2003 and 2009, most of the late-enrolees in 2010. Figure 11 shows their impact on the proportion of over-age candidates sitting the KCPE examination.

¹² For more details of the cost-sharing programme and its impact on enrolments, see Bedi et al (2004) and Somerset (2009).



Figure 11: Proportion of Over-aged KCPE Candidates 17-20 Years Old, 1998-2010

Between 1998 and 2002, it will be seen, about 18% of candidates were over-age (17 to 20 years old) each year. However this proportion rose to around 20% in 2003, 2004, and 2005 – inflated by pupils returning to the upper primary grades to resume their education following FPE 2003. Over the next three years the proportion fell to only about 14%, suggesting that most of the FPE returnees who re-entered the lower grades in 2003 dropped out again before completing the primary cycle. Finally in 2010, however, there was a sharp upward spike to a figure of 19%; almost certainly the consequence of the high proportion of late entrants in the Grade 1 intake of 2003.

Judging from these trends it seems very likely that in 2011 and subsequent years, the proportion of over-age pupils sitting KCPE will drop considerably. By 2012, very few of the FPE enrolees will remain in the primary system.

3.4 Age and KCPE Performance

Figure 12 shows the association between KCPE candidates' ages and their mean total scores, for the 740,000 candidates who sat the examination in 2010. The strength and consistency of the association across most of the age range is remarkable: except among the oldest pupils, each one-year increase in age is associated with a 10 to 15 point drop in mean total score. Among the youngest candidates, the fourteen-year-olds average more than twelve points lower than the thirteen-year-olds - despite their relatively greater physical and cognitive maturity.

Figure 12: Mean Total Score by Age, 2010



But however straightforward the statistical association between age and KCPE performance may be, interpretation of its meaning is certainly not. As we have noted, three types of experience, singly or in combination, can lead to a candidate being over-age: **late entry** to school; **repetition** of one or more grades; or **dropout and subsequent return** to school. Without longitudinal follow-up data from an intensive study it is impossible to determine which type of experience contributes most to underperformance in the examination.

Although officially discouraged, repetition is in fact still common practice in many Kenya primary schools, especially those in rural areas. Teachers employ repetition as a rough-and-ready approach to remediation: lacking the skills – or sometimes the commitment - needed to provide remedial help to individual slow learners, they require those who fail to demonstrate sufficient mastery of subject content in class tests and end-of-year examinations to repeat the whole year. In effect, they attempt to reduce cognitive heterogeneity by substituting age heterogeneity. Hence it would be surprising if pupils who have repeated one or more years were to perform in the KCPE at par with pupils who have passed straight through the primary cycle without interruption.

Data from a small-scale study of 2007 KCPE candidates carried out in Nyeri District and Nairobi City, set out in Table 2, provide limited confirmatory evidence:

Table 2: Mean 2007 KCPE Scores of Repeaters and Non-repeaters; Nyeri District andNairobi City

	Nyeri (3 schools)		Nairobi (3 schools)		
	Mean KCPE score n		Mean KCPE score	n	
Non-repeaters	281.58	64	276.15	71	
Repeated once	254.47	36	245.64	28	
Repeated twice or more	250.88	9	225.30	13	

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

Interpretation must of course be cautious because the samples are small and unrepresentative; nevertheless in both Nyeri and Nairobi, pupils who had completed the primary course without repeating any grade enjoyed a clear performance advantage over the repeaters, especially those who had repeated twice or more.¹³

But as to the effects of late school entry on performance, evidence is at present lacking. It may be that there is a critical threshold age for starting formal schooling, beyond which late starters are likely to be handicapped in their learning. Another possibility is that the late starters may tend to be concentrated in the less-developed, more-isolated rural areas, or in the urban slums; and that it is the quality of the instruction they receive, rather than their cognitive capacity, which is responsible for their low levels of achievement. On the other hand is also possible that in propitious circumstances late entry may confer an advantage: the older learners may be cognitively more mature, and thus better able to benefit from effective teaching than their younger colleagues. In the absence of data from a well-controlled longitudinal study, the issue cannot be resolved.

Even without this evidence, however, it is apparent that from a classroom perspective, reduction of age heterogeneity would bring substantial benefits. In classes where all pupils are of roughly the same level of both physical and cognitive maturity, management is likely to be more straightforward, pedagogy more effective, and social cohesion among the pupils stronger.¹⁴ Few teacher development programmes, either pre-service or in-service, devote sufficient attention to developing the skills needed for teaching pupils of differing age or ability levels, nor to remedial techniques for slow learners.

But whatever uncertainties there may be as to the reasons for the association between age and KCPE performance, there can be none as to its consequences for access to secondary and post-secondary opportunities. Kenya's public secondary education system, it will be recalled from the introductory section to this paper, is formally stratified into three tiers; the highly-prestigious national schools forming the top tier, the provincial schools the middle tier, and the district schools the bottom tier. Access to the upper two tiers is governed by performance in the KCPE examination. The national schools are highly selective: only about 1% of KCPE candidates are recruited, and a score of around 380 or higher is generally needed. The provincial schools are moderately selective: about 15-20% of KCPE candidates are recruited, and in most cases a minimum score of about 320 will gain a place. But the district schools are largely unselective: some set a minimum KCPE performance criterion; others will accept virtually any primary school leaver who can meet the costs.

¹³ Similar patterns were found in a small-scale study carried out nearly four decades ago, also in Nyeri District. There was, however, a twist to these earlier results: while pupils who repeated a lower grade were *less* successful than the non-repeaters, those pupils who repeated the final grade, and sat the selection examination a second time, were substantially *more* successful than those sitting for the first time. It seems that these final-grade repeaters were a quite different group from those who had repeated earlier in the primary cycle. At a time when the chances of winning a place in a public secondary school were less than 15%, they were able pupils who had almost succeeded at their first attempt, rather than slow-learning pupils who had failed an internal examination in a lower grade (Somerset 1974). Except in special circumstances, repeating the KCPE examination is now prohibited.

¹⁴ In one of the schools visited during the small-scale study referred to above, a substantial group of over-age pupils in the Grade 8 class tended to be marginalised during lessons – but dominated the school football team!



Figure 13: Percentage of Candidates Achieving Scores of at least 380 and 320 by Age, 2010

Figure 13 plots the proportion of 2010 KCPE candidates achieving the approximate minimum scores needed for a place at a national or a provincial school (380 and 320 respectively), according to the candidate's age. The huge advantage of the youngest candidates, particularly in qualifying for the national schools, is clearly apparent. As many as 4.3% of the 13-year-olds achieved the minimum score of 380 points needed in most regions for a national-school place. This proportion drops to only 2.8% for the 14-year-olds, and then plummets to just 0.8% and 0.3% for the 15 and 16-year-olds respectively. Finally for the oldest pupils, the chances of a national-school place are miniscule: less than one in 1000 of the 17 to 20-year olds achieved the minimum 380 points.

Older candidates fared a little better in the competition for provincial-school places. Exactly 6% of the 16-year-olds reached or surpassed the approximate minimum score of 320; while even among the over-age candidates the proportions were not insignificant: 4.4% in the case of the 17-year-olds; 1.8% among the 20-year olds. Nevertheless the younger candidates still enjoyed a massive advantage: comparable proportions among the 13 and 14-year-olds were 26% and 20% respectively.

The implications of these patterns for access to post-secondary opportunities are clear. As already discussed, graduates from the seven national schools located in Central Province had, in 2007, a better-than-even chance of qualifying for a maintained place in a public university whereas for provincial-school graduates the chances were about one in 15, and for district-school graduates, only about one in 200.

So the pupils who sit the KCPE when they are 13 or 14 years of age enjoy a double advantage over their older classmates: on average they perform better in the KCPE examination, as a consequence of which they are much more likely to enter a prestigious national or provincial secondary school, where their prospects of a university place are greatly enhanced.

3.5 Regional variations in the proportions of over-age KCPE candidates

In the previous section we considered the national age distribution of KCPE candidates, looking at changes over time, and the association with performance levels. Within the national patterns, however, there are substantial regional variations, and to these we now turn our attention.

Local government in Kenya is currently in a state of transition. With the new National Constitution due to come into effect in 2012, the old provinces, eight in number, will cease to function as administrative entities, although doubtless the names will survive as geographical markers. Instead 47 new counties, each with an elected governor, an elected senate, and with revenue-raising powers, will become the key units of local government. Given that provincial administration will soon come to an end, we decided to analyse the KCPE data on the basis of the boundaries of the new counties – albeit they have not yet formally come into being.

Table A1, an annex to this paper, sets out county-level data for the 2010 KCPE examination according to three key parameters: first, the proportions of candidates that were over-age (17 to 20 years old); second, the participation of girls in the KCPE, measured in terms of the Gender Parity Index (i.e., the proportion of girls sitting the examination for every 100 boys); and third, the relative performance of girls, measured in terms of the difference in mean total KCPE score between boys and girls. In this section we focus on the first of these parameters.

It will be seen from Table A1 that there was huge variation among the 47 counties in terms of the proportions of over-age candidates. At one extreme, exactly half (50.0%) the candidates in Kwale County were over-age, and the proportion was not much lower in Kilifi (45.6%). Other counties with high proportions included Lamu (34.9%) and Kakamega (30.9%).

In sharp contrast, only around one in twenty candidates in Baringo (4.7%) and Bomet (5.4%) were over-age; while other counties with low proportions included Nyamira (7.4%) and Kiambu (8.0%) together with Nairobi City (8.4%).

Map 1, on the following page, displays these variations geographically, though a colour-spectrum code. In 2010, the national proportion of over-age candidates was 18.7%. Violet and blue, at the 'cool' end of the spectrum, indicate counties where the proportion of over-age pupils was below the national average (less than 10%; and 10 to 14.9% respectively); green (15 to 19.9%) indicates counties close to the national average; while the 'hot' colours, yellow (20 to 24.9%) orange (25 to 34.9%) and red (35% and over), indicate in succession counties with increasingly larger proportions of over-age candidates.

Clear-cut geographical patterns are evident:

- The counties with above-average proportions of over-age KCPE candidates cluster in two widely-separated 'over-age hot-spots'. The first cluster is located to the far east of the Republic. It centres on the adjacent coastal counties of Kwale and Kilifi, to the south and north of the major port of Mombasa. In Kwale, as we have noted, exactly half the 2010 KCPE candidates were aged 17 or over (50.0%); while in Kilifi the proportion was not far behind (45.6%). These levels were both well over twice the national average proportion of 18.7%. The coastal county of Lamu (34.9%) is also a member of the cluster, as is the inland county of Taita-Taveta (29.8%), adjacent to both Kwale and Kilifi, and its neighbour, Kitui (26.7%).
- The second cluster, by contrast, is located in the far west; adjacent to the shores of Lake Victoria and the boundary with Uganda. Less sharply defined but more closely grouped than the eastern cluster, its core members are Kakamega (30.9%), Busia (30.0%), Vihiga (29.9%), and Siaya (25.6%).
- Between the eastern and western clusters lies a continuous belt, made up of virtually all the counties where the proportion of over-age candidates is lower than the national

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

average (colour coded violet or blue). It runs roughly north and south, from the northern border with Ethiopia (Marsabit and Wajir, 9.1% and 8.2%) to the southern border with Tanzania (Narok and Migori, 8.7% and 12.9%). Baringo, with the lowest proportion of over-age candidates in the Republic (4.7%), lies in the centre of the belt; but a continuous ribbon of counties, all in the violet zone (proportions less than 10%) runs southwards from Baringo to the Tanzania border.

These well-defined geographical patterns are clearly far from random. They derive from large sub-populations, ranging typically from around 10,000 to 30,000; but even if the sub-populations had been smaller, such regularity could not have arisen from chance variation.¹⁵

For the moment at least, however, the causal factors – economic, political, social, cultural, historical – which might help explain the patterns remain elusive. It is evident that neither land potential nor the level of socioeconomic development have any direct effect. Nairobi City, together with Kiambu, Murang'a, Nyeri and Kirinyaga - the high-potential, well-developed rural counties to the north of the city - are all in the blue or violet zones. But so also are Wajir, Marsabit, Isiolo, Samburu, and Narok – some of the most arid, sparsely-populated counties in the Republic; all of them subject to periodic drought and famine.

Further, there is little evidence that old provincial administrative structure had any marked impact. For example Garissa, Wajir and Mandera, which made up the North-Eastern Province, are in the yellow, violet and green colour zones respectively. The counties which constituted Nyanza Province are similarly heterogeneous: Migori and Homa Bay, both in the blue zone (11.6% and 12.9% respectively), had about half as many over-age pupils as Siaya, in the orange zone (25.9%). Nor do linguistic and socio-cultural factors seem important. The communities living in the two main areas where over-age pupils are most common – in the east along the Kenya coast and in the west near Lake Victoria and the Uganda border – are widely separated from each other and very distinct; as are the communities living in different parts of the central belt where over-age pupils are relatively few.

So from the information available at present, the meaning of the patterns remains obscure. We have reached the limits of what can be learned through macroscopic analysis alone. Directed enquiry at the local level, employing qualitative as well as quantitative approaches, could doubtless yield useful insights.

¹⁵ Only two counties, Lamu and Isiolo, offered fewer than 2,000 KCPE candidates in 2010.





3.6 Girls' Participation and Performance in the KCPE Examination.

Until the final years of Kenya's colonial period relatively few girls ever embarked on a primary education; even fewer reached the final grade, and had the chance to compete for a secondary-school place. In 1963, Kenya's Independence year, the Gender Parity Index (GPI) among final-grade primary pupils was just 21: for every 100 boys, there were only 21 girls.

During the early years of independence, however, rapid changes in social attitudes towards the education of girls led to remarkable improvements in participation rates. In the brief seven years between 1963 and 1970, the final-grade GPI more than doubled; from 21 points in the former year to 49 in the latter. The next two decades brought further striking increases; raising the index to 74 by 1980, and to 83 by 1990.



Figure 14: Number of Girls Sitting KCPE for Every 100 Boys, 1994-2010

Figure 14 shows KCPE Gender Parity Indices for the years 1994 to 2010. They are based on the relative numbers of girls sitting the KCPE examination, rather than on final-grade enrolments as in the analysis of earlier trends in the previous paragraphs.

In the seven years following 1994 the GPI rose steadily, by about one point per year, from around 87 points in 1994 to a peak of just over 94 in 2001. Thereafter, however, the index slipped back, falling to only 89 by 2006. It seems probable that with the abolition of fees in 2003, boys who had previously dropped out tended to return to school, especially to the upper grades, in larger numbers than girls.

Since 2007 the GPI has recovered a little, reaching 92 in 2010. Given that most members of the last major group of FPE recruits – the late entrants who started a delayed education in 2003 - will have completed the primary course in 2010, there is likely to be further progress towards gender equity in KCPE participation from 2011 onwards.

3.7 Regional Variations in Girls' KCPE Participation

At the national level, as we have just seen, around 92 girls sat the 2010 KCPE examination for every 100 boys. However within this overall picture, there were massive variations among the counties. The relevant data are included in Table A1.

In no fewer than 12 of the 47 counties, gender parity in KCPE participation has already been achieved (GPI 100 or higher); while in a number of these, girls are now in a clear majority. The highest GPI was in Meru (111), closely followed by Vihiga (110) and Embu (108).

In sharp contrast, girls make up well under one-third of the total candidates in Mandera (39), Garissa (40 and Wajir (40), and are also heavily under-represented in Turkana (54), Tana River (58), and Samburu (59). Other counties in which the GPI is below the national average by 20 points or more are Marsabit (64), Narok (65), Migori (69), West Pokot (71), Kwale (72) and Homa Bay (72).

Map 2, on the next page, shows the geographical distribution of these KCPE-participation differences. As before, a colour-spectrum coding scheme is employed; the 'warm' and 'hot' colours signifying counties where the gender disparities are greatest. Violet, at the cool end of the spectrum, indicates counties where girls sit the examination in equal numbers with boys, or are in the majority (GPI 100 and over). Counties approaching gender parity (95 to 99), or with indices close to the national average (90 to 94) are signified by blue and green respectively; while yellow (80 to 89), orange (60 to 79) and red (below 60) identify counties with increasingly wide levels of disparity.

It is immediately apparent that there is a strong geographical dimension to the gender differences. Virtually without exception, the counties where girls have the best chances of completing the primary cycle and participating in the KCPE examination – those colour- coded violet, blue and green – fall within a clearly-defined, crescent-shaped zone, spanning the country from Bungoma and Tranz-Nzioa on the Uganda border in the west, to Taita-Taveta on the Tanzania border in the south-east. In between, the zone includes the counties of the central Rift Valley, together with the counties situated on the slopes of Mount Kenya and the Aberdare Mountains, to the north of Nairobi.

To the north and east of this central zone, girls' KCPE participation rates are sharply lower. GPIs range downwards from 77 and 75 in the coastal counties of Lamu and Kilifi, to 39 in Mandara and 40 in Wajir and Garissa, all on the Somalia border. The single exception is Mombasa Municipality, Kenya's second urban area and main port, where the GPI, at 93, is close to the national average. To the south and west of the central zone, participation rates are again lower, although the contrasts are less pronounced. The lowest GPIs are in Narok (65), Migori (69) and Homa Bay (72), all on the south-western border with Tanzania.

At a first glance, the gender-disparity patterns evident in this map may seem similar to the over-age patterns to be seen in Map 1, discussed in the previous section. In both instances, a central zone where over-age pupils are fewest, or alternatively gender disparities lowest, separates zones to either side where over-age pupils are relatively frequent – or the proportion of girls sitting the examination relatively low.





In fact, however, the two central zones differ radically from each other; not so much in their shape, as in their geographical alignment. The counties with relatively few over-age candidates are located, for the most part, along an axis running from north-east to south-west; whereas nearly all the counties where girls' participation rates are high are situated along a curvilinear axis running from west to south-east.

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

In the areas near where the two geographical axes intersect, there is a group of about 15 counties which fall within the cool-colour zones for both dimensions (low proportions of over-age candidates, high girls' participation rates). These include Nyamira, Elgeo Marakwet, Nakuru, Nyandarua, Nyeri, Kirinyaga, Muranga and Kiambu counties, together with Nairobi City – all of them coded violet or blue on both scales.

Away from these areas, however, there are often sharp contrasts. In Wajir, Marsabit and Narok, for example, girls lag well behind boys in KCPE participation (GPIs 40, 64 and 65 respectively); nevertheless the proportions of over-age candidates are among the lowest in the country (9.1%, 8.2% and 8.7% respectively). Conversely in Taita-Taveta, parity between boys and girls in KCPE participation has already been achieved (GPI 101) but the proportion of over-age candidates is more than ten percentage points higher than the national average (29.8%).

Before these data were analysed our expectation had been that the two dimensions would be quite closely related: the counties where delayed completion of the primary cycle was most common would also tend to be the counties where gender disparities were greatest. But as we have just seen, the evidence shows otherwise. Statistically, the variables are quite unrelated: the correlation coefficient¹⁶ between them is -0.01.

The gender-disparity patterns shown in Map 2 do, in fact, yield to interpretation more readily than the patterns for over-age candidature, discussed in the previous section and shown in Map 1. A widely used classification of Kenya's rural areas divides the country's land surface into three broad zones: arid, semi-arid, and non-arid ¹⁷. The arid districts, eleven in number, form a continuous belt across northern and north-eastern Kenya, and cover about 60% of the total land area of the country. The 17 semi-arid districts are more heterogeneous in their location. Some lie to the south of the arid belt; others along the coast, a third group along the Tanzania border.¹⁸

In the arid districts especially, rainfall is sparse and irregular; so that land potential is low, and household incomes are dependent almost entirely on the livestock economy. In recent years prolonged drought has decimated the herds; in consequence most of the arid districts are currently (2011) in the grip of severe famine.

Not surprisingly, girls living in the arid and semi-arid areas are, in general, at a disadvantage in gaining access to a primary education, compared with those living in the more favoured areas, better-resourced and with higher levels of development. In Map 2, six counties are coded red, indicating wide gender disparities (GPI below 60). All of them, without exception, are included in the arid zone. A further nine counties are coded orange, indicating moderate gender disparities (GPI between 60 and 79). Two of these are classified as arid, and five of the remaining seven as semi-arid. At the other end of the spectrum, most of the counties coded violet or blue, with above-average girls' participation rates, are classified as non-arid. Clearly, the resources available in the area where a girl lives have a major effect on her chances of completing a primary education.

Nevertheless, there are a number of counties, in various parts of the country, which do not conform to this general trend. For example the adjacent counties of Makueni and Kitui, inland from the

¹⁶ Pearson product-moment

¹⁷ The classification was established by the Arid Lands Resource Management Project, funded by the World Bank and now in its second phase.

¹⁸ The boundaries of these districts, arid and semi-arid, do not always correspond exactly with the boundaries of the newly-created counties on which the analysis in this paper is based; nevertheless they are close enough for comparison to be meaningful.

Coast, are both semi-arid; but despite this both have achieved gender parity in KCPE participation (GPIs 99 and 101 respectively). Conversely Migori and Homa Bay, in the south-western corner of the country, are both non-arid counties, but nevertheless have gender disparities which are much wider than the national average (GPIs 69 and 72 respectively).

It is clear, then, that although the resources available in the local economy have a substantial impact on girls' educational chances, they are not the only determinants. In all likelihood, social, cultural and perhaps historical factors are also involved. Local enquiry, especially in counties where girls' participation rates seem inconsistent with local resource levels, could doubtless lead to insights as to what these non-economic factors are, and the processes through which they produce their effects.

3.8 Girls' KCPE performance

As we have just seen, girls now sit the KCPE examination in equal numbers with boys in a number of Kenya's better-resourced counties, although at the national level, gender parity has yet to be achieved. Girls' performance in the examination similarly lags behind. Table 3 shows the differences in mean KCPE total scores between boys and girls for the years 2001, 2006 and 2010, with the GPI data for comparison. The total KCPE score is calculated by summing candidates' standard scores in each of five subject areas (English, Kiswahili, mathematics, science, and a general paper).¹⁹

Year	Candidates			Mean KCPE total score		
	Boys	Girls	GPI	Boys	Girls	Difference
2001	261,934	247,142	94.4	255.07	239.53	15.54
2006	350,134	310,421	88.7	253.83	240.39	13.44
2010	385,304	354,414	92.0	252.42	242.14	10.28

Table 3: Gender Differences in Mean KCPE Total Scores, 2001, 2006 and 2010

Over the ten years 2001 to 2010 the performance gap between boys and girls narrowed by about one-third, but still (in 2010) amounts to more than ten points. The GPI shows a contrasting pattern. In 2001 it stood at 94.4, an all-time peak; but slipped back more than five points in the years following the Free Primary Education programme of 2003, before recovering to 92.0 in 2010.

¹⁹ Standardisation (to a mean of 50 and standard deviation of 15) is employed to ensure that each subject area contributes equal variance to the overall result.



Figure 15: Age Distribution of KCPE Candidates by Gender, 2010

In interpreting the performance differences it is relevant to note that on average, girls tend to be younger than boys when they sit the KCPE. Figure 15 compares the two age distributions, for the year 2010.

Girls clearly outnumber boys among the 13 and 14 year olds, whereas boys are in a substantial majority among those aged 16 and over. But as we have discussed in a previous section, KCPE performance is strongly associated with age: younger candidates achieve on average much higher scores than older candidates. So when we compare the performance of boys and girls holding age constant, the gender gap widens.²⁰ Figure 16 shows the patterns.

²⁰ Similarly, when gender is held constant, the association between age and KCPE performance strengthens.



Figure 16: Mean Total KCPE Score by Age and Gender, 2010

The two regression lines, it will be seen, are nearly parallel to each other: the relationship between age and KCPE performance is almost identical for boys and girls. But at each and every specific age level, the performance gap in favour of the boys is *wider* than it is among the total population of candidates. The gap ranges upwards from 12.65 points, among the 13-year-olds, to more than 16 points for several of the older age-groups – compared to only 10.28 points for the total population.

These results provide evidence of the need to enquire into the effects of correlated independent variables when analysing results from empirical social research. Controlling for the effects of age does not, of course, change the major conclusion to be drawn from the aggregate statistics as to the gender gap in KCPE performance; but it does modify quite substantially our estimate as to how wide the disparity is.²¹

3.9 Girls' KCPE Performance in Specific Subjects.

Although girls lag some distance behind boys in their overall KCPE performance, their disadvantage does not extend to all subject areas. Figure 17 shows the relative performance of boys and girls in three key subjects – mathematics, science and English - over the three decades between 1979 and 2010.²²

²¹ It is interesting to note that at each specific age, girls perform roughly at par with boys one year older.

²² An earlier, less-detailed, analysis of these trends, based on data from two years only, has been published elsewhere (Somerset 2009)



Figure 17: Relative Performance of Boys and Girls in Selected Subjects, 1979 - 2010

The data come from various issues of the KCPE Newsletter, an annual publication of the Kenya National Examinations Council. First produced in 1978, the Newsletter identifies key areas where candidates' responses indicate weak conceptual understanding or cognitive skill, and offers suggestions to teachers as to how these weaknesses might be remedied. Gender-specific performance data were first included in 1979 and 1982; then, after a 20-year gap, they became a regular feature from 2001 onwards.²³

Mathematics and science are examined entirely through questions in multiple-choice format: candidates are not required to construct their own answers, but simply to choose from among four alternatives supplied by the question-setters. In consequence, chance guessing can contribute substantially to the scores, especially among the weaker candidates.

For English, two different papers are set: a language paper, also in multiple-choice format; and a composition paper, which of course requires a constructed response, in the form of a passage of continuous prose. Since the late 1970s, the stimulus material for the composition paper has been designed to encourage imaginative writing. Very often, the opening sentences of a short story are provided, which candidates are asked to complete, making the story as interesting as they can. Alternatively, a cartoon sequence is sometimes used as stimulus material. In assessing the compositions, credit is given for both convergent skills (accurate grammar and syntax, correct spelling, legible handwriting) and divergent skills (fluency of narrative, imaginative ideas).

It will be seen from Figure 17 that in 1979, girls were considerably less successful than boys in all three subjects, although the achievement gap in the English language paper (-3.6 percentage points) was only about half as large as it was in mathematics (-7.1 points) and science (-7.7 points). Over the next three decades girls' relative performance in English language improved: by 2001 they were close to achieving parity with the boys (-0.3 points); and by 2010 were at a slight comparative advantage (+0.8 points).

²³ Raw marks, rather than standard scores, are used to compare girls' and boys' performance in the Newsletters. The trends shown in Figure 9 are based on these marks, expressed in percentage terms. The KCPE total scores discussed previously are based, it will be recalled, on standard scores summed over five subject areas.

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

However it is in the English composition paper that girls have been most successful. In 2001, the first year for which results are available, they out-performed the boys by as much as 5.3 percentage points. Since then the gap has been smaller but consistent - typically in the region of two to three points. It would be of much interest to know whether it is the convergent aspects of performance (accuracy, legibility), or the divergent aspects (narrative flow, imagination), which contribute most to the girls' comparative advantage.²⁴

In mathematics, girls have always lagged behind the boys, but their relative achievement has improved since 1982, when the disparity in favour of the boys was a massive 9.4 percentage points. By 2001 the disparity had narrowed to 5.5 points, and then further to 4.7 points by 2010 - exactly half the 1982 level.

But in science, by contrast, there has been no progress. In 1979 the gap amounted to 7.7 points; in 2010, three decades later, it stood virtually unchanged at 7.6 points – wider than the gap for mathematics in the same year by nearly three points.

Concerned at the size of the 1979 disparity, members of the team responsible at the time for setting the science questions carried out an item-level analysis of gender differences in performance. They followed up with a series of science lesson observations, from which it became apparent that during the practical sessions in particular, boys tended to take the active roles, while girls were often passive onlookers.

The 1980 Newsletter communicated the results back to the schools:

In analysing the science questions in the 1979 (examination), an interesting fact was discovered about differences in performance between boys and girls. As you may remember from page 26 of this Newsletter, the performance gap was wider in science than in any other subject. In English, the average gap was only 3.6%; in mathematics, it was 7.1%; but in science it was as high as 7.7%.

When the science questions were analysed separately, however, it was found that girls performed quite well in most of the reasoning questions (relative to boys) By contrast, girls tended to do badly in most of the questions which gave an advantage to pupils who had carried out practical observations and experiments . . . The results were as follows:

Questions testing:	Avera	Performance	
	Boys Girls		<u>gap</u>
Mainly reasoning	46.4%	42.0%	4.4%
Mainly observation or experiment	56.5%	42.4%	14.1%

As you can see, the average performance gap in questions which tested mainly reasoning was only 4.4%, which is only a little higher than the gap for English. By contrast, in the

²⁴ Results for Kiswahili, the other KCPE language subject, are available for 2010 only; however in that year the achievement patterns were almost identical to those for English. Girls were more successful than boys in the Kiswahili language paper, but by a marginal 0.3 percentage points only; whereas in the composition paper their comparative advantage amounted to as much as 4.5 points. The Kiswahili composition marking scheme - like its English counterpart – gives credit for both the convergent and the divergent skills.

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

questions which tested mainly the results of observations or experiments the gap was as high as 14.1%.²⁵

These results suggest strongly that the main reason why boys perform better in science than girls is not that they have superior reasoning ability, but rather that they have had more experience in carrying out observations and experiments.

The sequence concluded with remedial advice for the teachers:

Make sure that when you are doing practical work in science, the girls take just as active a part . . . as the boys. If you find that girls tend to be passive while working with boys, you may find it useful from time to time to arrange your groups so that boys and girls work separately

The persistence of the gender gap in science achievement indicates that the problems highlighted 30 years ago have yet to be effectively tackled. Renewed enquiry, both into the item-level performance patterns and into science pedagogy in the classroom, could well provide the understanding needed to inform the desired change – and also, perhaps, help generate the impetus needed to bring it about.

²⁵ The full text, which runs to several pages, gives examples of each type of question. The reasoning questions, 13 in number, are defined as questions in which 'candidates are given some information at the beginning of the question. They must analyse this information, and use it to draw a valid conclusion. . . . Candidates are <u>not</u> expected to have memorised these facts before the examination, nor even to have seen them before.' The 11 observation questions, by contrast, are knowledge-based: 'It is, of course, possible to learn the answers to these questions from textbooks, but those who have actually carried out the observations and experiments find the questions much easier.'

4. Concluding Remarks and Policy Implications

This Research Monograph set out to explore patterns of participation across a number of Anglophone African countries to establish how participation had been changing over time, and to explore in more detail age, gender, location and performance in one case study country – Kenya. The analysis has highlighted how enrolment growth has occurred in very uneven ways across countries, and how increases in overall participation have not always been accompanied by decreased drop out. It also shows many aspects of how age, gender, location and performance interact and how inequalities in access persist. In conclusion we will summarise findings from the research and identify policy relevant conclusions. First we consider insights from the Kenya case study, and second from the analysis across eight countries.

Our analysis of data from the KCPE examination archives has centred around two major sets of issues. These are the **age** at which candidates sit the examination, its relationship to their performance, and its consequences for their future prospects; and the **gender** disparities in KCPE participation and performance.

4.1 Age, Participation and Performance in Kenya

(a) A child who enters primary school at the expected age of six or seven years, and completes the eight-year cycle without interruption, should sit the terminating KCPE examination at the age of 13 or 14.

(b) But in fact there is massive variation in candidates' ages. In 2010, only 40% were aged 13 or 14; 41% were 15 or 16, while as many as 19% were between 17 and 20 – three or more years older than the most appropriate age.

(c) Furthermore there is a strong and consistent association between age and KCPE performance: each one-year increase in age is typically associated with a 10 to 15 point drop in mean total KCPE score.

(d) The causal linkages leading to this association are far from clear. Three types of experience, singly or in combination, can lead to a candidate being over-age: **late entry** to school; **repetition** of one or more grades; or **dropout and subsequent return** to school. From the available data it is not possible to determine which type of experience contributes most to underperformance.

(e) Although officially discouraged, repetition is still common practice in many primary schools. Teachers use repetition as a substitute for remediation: instead of providing slow learners with remedial help, they require them to repeat the whole year. In effect, they attempt to reduce cognitive heterogeneity by increasing age heterogeneity.

(f) Whatever the reasons for the association between age and KCPE performance, its consequences for access to secondary and post-secondary opportunities are plain. Kenya's secondary schools are formally stratified into a three-tier hierarchy: the prestigious national schools; the middle-ranking provincial schools, and the lower-status district schools. Exceptional KCPE results are required for access to the national schools; whereas many of the district schools are virtually non-selective.

(g) Because KCPE performance is so strongly associated with age, access to the highly-selective upper-tier secondary schools is heavily monopolised by the younger pupils. A 13-year-old KCPE candidate is about five times as likely to achieve the score needed for a national-school place as a

15-year-old; twelve times as likely as a 16-year-old; and no less than 50 times as likely as a pupil aged between 17 and 20.

(h) The advantages leading to superior KCPE performance are, in turn, multiplied by the superior quality of the education provided in the upper-tier secondary schools. Access to an upper-tier school has massive consequences for pupils' subsequent life chances. A graduate from a national school is over 100 times more likely to win a maintained place at a public university than a district-school graduate.

(i) For the purposes of our analysis, pupils aged between 17 and 20 years are categorised as 'overage'. Applying this criterion, just under 19% of the 740,000 candidates who sat the KCPE examination in 2010 were over-aged.

(j) Around this national figure, however, there are wide local variations. Among the 47 new counties which will become the key units of local government with the implementation of the new National Constitution in 2012, the range in the proportion of over-age candidates was from as high as 50.0% to as low as 4.7%.

(k) Moreover, clear-cut geographical patterns were evident. Counties with above-average proportions of over-age pupils were, with few exceptions, located in two widely-separated 'over-age clusters'; the first centred on the coastal counties of Kilifi and Kwale in the east; the second, in the far west, on a group of counties adjacent to the Uganda border and the shores of Lake Victoria. Between the two clusters lies a continuous belt, running roughly north and south, made up of nearly all the counties where the proportion of over-age pupils is below the national average.

(1) However from the evidence available at present, it is not possible to identify possible causal factors which might help explain these patterns. Socioeconomic development does not appear to have any direct effect: the counties with the fewest over-age pupils include a number located in arid, drought-prone areas, together with others in high-potential, well-developed parts of the country. Local-level enquiry, employing qualitative as well as quantitative approaches, could doubtless yield useful insights, and perhaps lead to a meaningful interpretation of the patterns.

The implications for policy on age-in-grade in Kenya include:

- (i) A major policy priority should become strengthening the quality of education received by those who enter the district schools now that substantial progress towards wider secondary-school access has been achieved.
- (ii) Repetition should be reduced by devoting more attention to developing teachers' skills in providing remedial instruction for slow-learning pupils through improved primary teacher education programmes, both pre-service and in-service.
- (iii) Educational managers should mount campaigns explaining to parents the advantages of enrolling their children for primary education at the appropriate age (6 or 7 years) in the counties with above-average proportions of over-age pupils.

4.2 Gender, Participation and Performance in Kenya

(a) At the national level, girls now sit the KCPE examination in near-equal numbers with boys. In 2010 the Gender Parity Index (GPI: the proportion of girls per 100 boys) stood at 92.

(b) However within this overall picture, variation among the counties is massive. In as many as 12 of the 47 counties, gender parity had already been achieved by 2010: the GPI stood at 100 or higher. However in sharp contrast, the index was below 60 in four counties, and between 60 and 70 in a further three.

(c) As with the over-age patterns, there was a strong geographical dimension to the gender differences. Virtually without exception, the counties where gender parity has already been achieved or is close to achievement (GPI 90 or above) fall within a crescent-shaped zone, spanning the country from Bungoma and Trans Nzioa on the Uganda border to Taita-Taveta on the Tanzania border in the south-east. However this zone, where girls are most likely to participate in the KCPE, does *not* correspond to the zone, previously discussed, where over-age candidates are fewest.

(d) The gender-parity patterns yield to interpretation more readily than the over-age patterns. In general it is in the drought-prone arid and semi-arid areas, where land potential is low and household incomes largely dependent on the livestock economy, that gender disparities in KCPE participation are at their widest.

(e) However there are various parts of the country which do not conform to this general trend. Inland from the coast, two adjacent counties classified as semi-arid have nevertheless achieved gender parity; while in the south-west, a cluster of non-arid counties have GPIs well below the national mean.

(f) So it is clear that although land-resource levels have a substantial impact on girls' KCPE participation, other factors – social, cultural, perhaps historical – are also involved. Again, local-level enquiry could lead to better understanding of these factors, how they produce their effects, and what measures might lead to change.

(g) In terms of their KCPE scores, girls lag some distance behind the boys. Nevertheless, the performance gap has narrowed considerably in recent years.

(h) An analysis of gender differences in mathematics, science and English achievement carried out in 1980 on the 1979 data indicated that girls were at a disadvantage in all three subjects, although the gender gap was twice as wide in science and mathematics as it was in English.

(i) Since 1979, girls' relative achievement in English has improved steadily: by 2010 they enjoyed a clear advantage over the boys, especially in the English Composition paper. In mathematics, too, there has been some movement towards performance parity. But in science, there has been no progress: the performance gap was as wide in 2010 as it had been in 1979.

(j) In a detailed item-level analysis carried out after the 1979 examination, it was found that girls performed relatively well in data-based science reasoning items, which could be answered through analysis of new information provided in the stem of the question. By contrast, they lagged well behind the boys in knowledge-based questions which advantaged pupils who had carried out a practical observation or experiment.

(k) Observations of science lessons during school visits provided supporting evidence. In practical sessions especially, boys were likely to be taking active roles, while girls tended to be passive onlookers.

(1) The persistence of the gender gap in science achievement first identified 30 years ago indicates that the issues highlighted at that time have yet to be effectively tackled.

The implications for policy to reduce gender gaps in performance in Kenya include:

- (i) In the counties where girls complete the primary cycle and participate in the KCPE examination in much smaller numbers than boys educational managers should initiate local enquiries into the reasons for the disparities as a basis for devising appropriate local remedies
- (ii) An observational study of current primary science teaching practice should be mounted as a step towards understanding the reasons for the persistent gender disparities in science achievement.
- (iii) The development of teachers' skills in managing practical activities in ways which ensure that learning opportunities are maximised, and that boys and girls benefit equally, should be a priority, especially in science education programmes.

4.3 The Evolution of Patterns of Participation across Countries

The patterns in the data show some of the challenges that remain for improved participation. In seven of the eight countries examined the numbers enrolled in the early grades are greater than the numbers in the six year old population indicating that there is over-age enrolment (and possibly some underage enrolment) and that repetition is still a serious issue. The tipping point where enrolments in a grade exceed the size of the population in the age group varies from Grade 2 to Grade 6 indicating that there are different pathways to travel to provide enough capacity for universal enrolment. It is clear from the enrolment curves that though Gross Enrolment Rates may be over 100% many do not complete the basic education cycle successfully. In some cases expansion has dramatically increased enrolments in lower grades without concomitant increases in higher grades and completion rates. Those who enter grade one did not always arrive in the last grade of primary six or seven years later.

Across the data sets on average girls are enrolled less than boys in most of the countries but the differences are relatively small and have been diminishing. Noticeably these differences are smallest in the lower grades and begin to grow above Grade 6 in the lower enrolment countries. It is clear that higher overall enrolment rates at primary and secondary are associated with greater gender equity. It is also the case girls tend to enrol younger than boys and boys persist longer in school than girls in some of the countries, including Kenya. The Kenya case study provides a reminder that although overall participation is becoming more gender equitable, within countries there may be considerable variation between districts. National averages conceal disparities that can be extreme at local levels.

We can note that all the low enrolment countries have large age-in-grade disparities. These increase with grade level and are likely to generate difficult conditions for learning and teaching in classes with a wide range of children's ages and capabilities. The Kenya case study, and other data, indicates clearly that achievement and attainment are age related, with older candidates scoring lower, and being more likely to leave school prematurely. Urban children are more likely to be enrolled to high grades in all the countries considered. However patterns vary with the gaps between urban and rural enrolment rates growing faster with higher grade level in some countries rather than others (Lewin and Sabates 2011).

The case study in Kenya mirrors some of these results from the cross national data sets. It uses robust data on the large population of children taking the KCPE. These candidates are already a selected group in the sense that those with the lowest achievement and those who are most over-age are unlikely to reach Grade 8 and take the KCPE. The analysis confirms that in Kenya age is strongly associated with performance. There is a linear decline in average scores related to age.

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

Boys score higher than girls on average, though girls tend to take KCPE at younger ages than boys. There are no simple patterns that relate participation and performance to location and age. There is considerable variation in patterns between counties in Kenya. More research is needed to establish if the patterns observed in Kenya are common in other countries in Sub Saharan Africa.

The policy implications of the analyses in this monograph include several which are specific to Kenya and which are listed in the previous section. More generally several issues and related possible actions stand out:

First, patterns of enrolment by grade should be reviewed annually and explored in terms of changing participation by grade, attrition from grade to grade, and estimated completion rates. The patterns for boys and girls should be considered separately to establish differences in participation rates, their recent evolution, and the likely causes and effective mitigation strategies.

Second, focussed attention should be given to the problems related to over-age children. These should address both late entry and repetition, and should seek to minimise both. Since the consequences of being over-age appear to be closely correlated with primary school leaving examination performance, and thus subsequent access to secondary schooling, it is essential that age grade slippage is reduced.

Third public awareness campaigns are therefore needed to sensitise parents to the importance of enrolment on schedule at age six years, and teachers to the costs of repetition in terms of delayed progression and likely drop out. Though this will not guarantee reduced drop out and greater completion rates it is almost certain that without less variation in age within grades universal completion will remain elusive.

Fourth, steps are needed to establish to what extent repetition of grades serves a purpose and whether as a result there is any evidence of improved learning and subsequent progression. Repetition determined by school level decisions may not be based on a secure evidence base, may increase the chances of subsequent drop out if it increases the numbers seriously over-age, and may be inequitable if different schools and teachers apply different standards.

Fifth, indicators are needed which highlight regional and district variations in participation and achievement which are linked to programmes designed to reduce inequalities associated with poverty, gender, and location. Annual reviews should identify where differences are greatest and where they have been growing in order to intervene and monitor closely efforts to ameliorate the causes of educational exclusion.

If the existing disparities - between richer and poorer children, between boys and girls, and between urban and rural children - are to diminish then the dynamics that shape the disparities and determine how changes can be brought about need to be better understood in each country and county context. This requires a new focus on equity as a goal which complements increased participation, and further exploration of the correlates of exclusion, with sustained efforts to address the disadvantages and vulnerabilities that continue to exclude too many children from learning that can transform their well being.

References

- Akyeampong, K., (2009) Revisiting Free Compulsory Universal Basic Education (FCUBE) in Ghana, Comparative Education Special Issue (2009) Access to Education in Sub-Saharan Africa. Vol. 45 (2)
- Bedi, A.S., P.K. Kimalu, D.K.Manda and N. Nafula (2004) The decline in primary school enrolment in Kenya. *Journal of African Economics*,13 no.1: 1-43
- Chimombo, J., (2009) Changing patterns of access to basic education in Malawi: a story of a mixed bag? Comparative Education Special Issue (2009) Access to Education in Sub-Saharan Africa. Vol. 45 (2)
- GMR (2010) EFA Global Monitoring Report, UNESCO, Paris.
- Kenya National Examinations Council (1980) CPE Examination Newsletter. Nairobi: Jomo Kenyatta Foundation.
- Lewin, K. M. and Sabates, R., (2011) Changing Patterns of Access to Education in Anglophone and Francophone Countries in Sub Saharan Africa: Is Education for All Pro-Poor? CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 52. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- Lewin, K. M., (2011) Target Setting and Target Getting in EFA Policy and in EFA Practice, *Journal of Education Policy*, Special Issue: Access to Basic Education in Sub Saharan Africa and South Asia Policies, Politics and Progress, edited by Angela W. Little and Keith M. Lewin.
- Lewin, K. M., (2009) Access to education in sub-Saharan Africa: patterns, problems and possibilities Comparative Education Special Issue (2009) Access to Education in Sub-Saharan Africa. Vol. 45 (2)
- Lewin, K. M., (2007) Expanding Access to Secondary Schooling in Sub-Saharan Africa: Key Planning and Finance Issues. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 8. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- Little, A. W., (2008) EFA Politics, Policies and Progress. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 13. London: Institute of Education.
- Ohba, A. (2009) Does free secondary education enable the poor to gain access? A study from rural Kenya. CREATE Pathways to Access Monograph No. 21. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- Oketch, M. and Somerset, A. (2010) Free Primary Education and After in Kenya: Enrolment impact, quality effects, and the transition to secondary school. CREATE Pathways to Access Monograph No. 37. London: Institute of Education.
- Rolleston, C., (2009a) Human Capital, Poverty, Educational Access and Exclusion: The Case of Ghana 1991-2006. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 22. London: Institute of Education.
- Sawamura, N and Sifuna, D. (2008) Universalising primary education in Kenya: is it beneficial and sustainable? Journal of International Cooperation in Education 11, 103-118.

Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice

- Sifuna, D (2007) The challenge of increasing access and improving quality: an analysis of universal primary education interventions in Kenya and Tanzania since the 1970s. International Review of Education 53, 687-699.
- Somerset, A (2009) Universalising primary education in Kenya: the elusive goal. Comparative Education, 45, 233-250.
- Somerset, A. (1974) Who goes to secondary school: Relevance, reliability and equity in secondary school selection. In *Education, Society and Development: New perspectives from Kenya*, eds D. Court and D. Ghai, 149-184. Nairobi and London: Oxford University Press.

Annex 1: KCPE 2010: Age and gender statistics by county

- (a) Proportion of over-age candidates (17 to 20 years)
- (b) Girls' participation (Gender Parity Index: Girls per 100 boys)
- (c) Girls' performance (Gap in mean total score between boys and girls)

County	Candidates	KCPE & Age	KCPE & Gender	
		% Over-age	Girls' participation.	Girls' performance.
		(17 to 20 years)	(GPI: Girls per 100 boys)	(Gender gap, mean total score)
Coast:				
Taita-Tav	7,355	29.8	101	10.17
Kwale	12,715	50.0	72	19.00
Mombasa	14,554	24.5	93	8.11
Kilifi	24,203	45.6	75	16.08
Tana River	2,424	19.1	58	23.71
Lamu	1,732	34.9	77	6.68
North_East:				
Garissa	4,939	23.4	40	7.31
Wajir	2,329	8.2	40	5.44
Mandera	3,652	15.8	39	16.12
East:				
Machakos	23,315	22.0	99	8.94
Makueni	24,537	11.5	101	8.44
Kitui	27,181	26.7	99	13.21
Embu	9,909	19.9	108	7.22
Tharaka-Nthi	7,918	18.7	101	5.10
Meru	27,449	23.7	111	8.58
Marsabit	3,101	9.1	64	23.85
Isiolo	1,925	13.6	68	17.57
Central:				
Kiambu	34,202	8.0	102	5.33
Muranga	19,955	13.0	104	10.53
Nyeri	18,432	10.6	102	1.90
Kirinyaga	10,705	14.0	98	8.73
Nyandarua	16,097	12.9	104	11.35
Nairobi City	41,433	8.4	103	5.71

(Continued)

Annex 1 (continued)

County	Candidates	KCPE & Age	KCPE & Gender	
		% Over-age (17 to 20 years)	Girls' participation. (GPI: Girls per	Girls' performance. (Gender gap, mean
		-	100 boys)	total score)
Rift Valley:				
Turkana	4,462	21.7	54	12.88
Samburu	2,413	11.8	59	25.01
Trans Nzioa	16,318	22.6	101	13.85
West Pokot	3,333	22.7	71	11.72
Bomet	18,210	5.4	88	16.53
Uasin Gishu	17,228	15.8	100	8.07
Nakuru	35,875	14.9	97	13.24
Kericho	18,411	8.3	94	13.36
Nandi	15,049	22.9	96	9.66
Laikipia	8,743	17.9	95	8.75
Kajiado	9,828	19.9	83	6.46
Narok	11,503	8.7	65	17.18
Baringo	12,530	4.7	93	13.24
Elgeo-Marakwet	10,313	11.1	99	4.99
Nyanza:				
Siaya	18,059	25.7	87	14.48
Kisumu	19,339	17.2	88	12.18
Homa Bay	20,866	11.6	72	16.78
Migori	16,671	12.9	69	15.83
Nyamira	12,842	7.4	98	12.35
Kisii	22,069	8.5	93	13.90
West:				
Bungoma	31,309	22.9	95	11.54
Busia	13,919	30.0	85	15.62
Kakamega	34,431	30.9	100	11.80
Vihiga	12,868	29.9	110	14.63
National		18.7	92	



CREATE publications November 2011

COUNTRY ANALYTIC REVIEWS

- Bangladesh. Ahmed, M., Ahmed, K.S., Khan, N.I. and Ahmed, R. (2007) *Access to Education in Bangladesh: Country Analytic Review of Primary and Secondary School.* CREATE Country Analytic Review. Dhaka/Brighton: BU-IED/ University of Sussex.
- Ghana. Akyeampong, K., Djangmah, J., Seidu, A., Oduro, A. and Hunt, F. (2007) Access to Basic Education in Ghana: The Evidence and the Issues. CREATE Country Analytic Review. Winneba/ Brighton: The University of Education at Winneba/ University of Sussex.
- India. Govinda, R. and Bandyopadhyay, M. (2008) Access to Elementary Education in India: Country Analytical Review. CREATE Country Analytic Review. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/ University of Sussex.
- South Africa. Motala, S., Dieltiens, V., Carrim, N., Kgobe, P., Moyo, G. and Rembe, S. (2007) *Educational Access in South Africa: Country Analytic Report.* CREATE Country Analytic Review. Johannesburg/Brighton: University of the Witwatersrand EPU/ University of Sussex.

PATHWAYS TO ACCESS SERIES, RESEARCH MONOGRAPHS

- PTA1. Lewin, K. M. (2007) *Improving Access, Equity and Transitions in Education: Creating a Research Agenda.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 1. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA2. Pridmore, P. (2007) The Impact of Health on Education Access and Achievement: A Cross-National Review of the Research Evidence. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 2. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA3. Rose, P. (2007) NGO Provision of Basic Education: Alternative or Complementary Service Delivery to Support Access to the Excluded? CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 3. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA4. Rose, P. (2007) Supporting Non-state Providers in Basic Education Service Delivery. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 4. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA5. Lewin, K.M. (2007) *The Limits to Growth of Non-Government Private Schooling in Sub Saharan Africa*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 5. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA6. Dunne, M., Akyeampong, K. and Humphreys, S. (2007) *School Processes, Local Governance and Community Participation: Understanding Access.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 6. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA7. Lewin, K.M. (2007) Long Term Planning for EFA and the MDGs: Modes and Mechanisms. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 7. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA8. Lewin, K.M. (2007) Expanding Access to Secondary Schooling in Sub-Saharan Africa: Key Planning and Finance Issues. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 8. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA9. Somerset, A. (2007) A Preliminary Note on Kenya Primary School Enrolment Trends over Four Decades. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 9. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA10. Oketch, M. and Rolleston, C. (2007) *Policies on Free Primary and Secondary Education in East Africa*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 10. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA11. Lall, M. (2007) A Review of Concepts from Policy Studies Relevant to the Analysis of EFA in Developing Countries. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 11. London: Institute of Education.

- PTA12. Al-Samarrai, S. (2007) *Financing Basic Education in Bangladesh*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 12. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA13. Little, A. (2008) *EFA Politics, Policies and Progress.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 13. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA14. Laugharn, P. (2007) Negotiating Education for Many: Enrolment, Dropout and Persistence in the Community Schools of Kolondieba, Mali. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 14. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA15. Giffard-Lindsay, K. (2007) *Inclusive Education in India: Interpretation, Implementation, and Issues*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 15. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA16. Hunt, F. (2008) *Dropping Out from School: A Cross Country Review of the Literature*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 16. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA17. Blum, N. and Diwan, R. (2007) *Small, Multigrade Schools and Increasing Access to Primary Education in India: National Context and NGO Initiatives.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 17. Delhi/London: NUEPA/ Institute of Education.
- PTA18. Bandyopadhyay, M. and Subrahmanian, R. (2008) Gender Equity in Education: A Review of Trends and Factors. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 18. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/University of Sussex.
- PTA19. Sedwal, M. and Kamat, S. (2008) *Education and Social Equity: With a Special Focus on Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes in Elementary Education*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 19. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/University of Sussex.
- PTA20. Alexander, R. (2008) EFA, the Quality Imperative and the Problem of Pedagogy. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 20. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA21. Ohba, A. (2009) Does free secondary education enable the poor to gain access? A study from rural Kenya. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 21. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA22. Rolleston, C. (2009) *Human Capital, Poverty, Educational Access and Exclusion: The Case of Ghana 1991-2006.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 22. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA23. Harma, J. (2010) School choice for the poor? The limits of marketisation of primary education in rural India. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 23. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA24. Lafon, M. (2009) The Impact of Language Issues on Educational Access in South Africa. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 24. Johannesburg/ Brighton: Wits EPU/ University of Sussex.
- PTA25. Sood, N. (2009) The Impact of Malnutrition on Cognition and the Education of Children in India: A Review of Research Evidence. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 25. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/University of Sussex.
- PTA26. Little, A. (2008) *Size Matters for EFA*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 26. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA27. Fleish, B. and Shindler, J. (2009) School participation from 'Birth-to-Twenty': Patterns of schooling in an urban child cohort study in South Africa. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 27. Johannesburg/ Brighton: Wits EPU/ University of Sussex.
- PTA28. Smita (2008) *Distress Seasonal Migration and its Impact on Children's Education in India*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 28. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/ University of Sussex.
- PTA29. Aturupane, H. (2009) *The Pearl of Great Price: achieving equitable access to primary and secondary education and enhancing learning in Sri Lanka.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 29. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA30. Turrent, V. (2009) Expanding Support for Education in Fragile States: what role for Fast Track Initiative? CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 30. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA31. Hadley, S. (2009) Seasonality and Access to Education: the case of primary education in sub-Saharan Africa. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 31. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA32. Juneja, N. (2010) Access to What? Access, Diversity & Participation in India's schools. Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 32. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/University of Sussex.

- PTA33. Akyeampong, K. (2010) 50 Years of Educational Progress and Challenge in Ghana. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 33. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA34. Sabur, Z. and Ahmed, M. (2010) *Debating Diversity in Provision of Universal Primary Education in Bangladesh.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 34. Dhaka/Brighton: BRAC/University of Sussex.
- PTA35. Govinda, R. and Bandyopadhyay, M. (2009) *Changing Framework of Local Governance and Community Participation in Elementary Education*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 35. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/University of Sussex.
- PTA36. Croft, A. (2010) *Including Disabled Children in Learning: Challenges in Developing Countries*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 36. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA37. Oketch, M and Somerset, A (2010) Free Primary Education and After in Kenya: Enrolment impact, quality effects, and the transition to secondary school. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 37. London: Institute of Education/University of Sussex.
- PTA38. Little, A. (2010) *The Politics, Policies and Progress of Basic Education in Sri Lanka.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 38. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA39. Wang, X.G. (2010) *Girls' Access to Education in China: Actors, Cultures and the Windmill of Development Management.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 39. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA40. Reddy, A and Sinha S. (2010) *School Dropouts or Pushouts?* Overcoming Barriers for the Right to *Education.* Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 40. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/ University of Sussex.
- PTA41. Dunne, M., Bosumtwi, S., Sabates, R., Owusu., A. (2010) Bullying and School Attendance: A Case Study of Senior High School Students in Ghana. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 41. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA42. Little, A. (2010) Access to Basic Education in Ghana: politics, policies and progress. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 42. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA43. Seidu, A. and Adzahlie-Mensah, V. (2010) *Teachers and Access to Schooling in Ghana.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 43. Winneba/Brighton: University of Education, Winneba/University of Sussex.
- PTA44. Little, A. (2010) Access to Elementary Education in India: Politics, Policies and Progress. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 44. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA45. Cameron, S. (2010) Access to and Exclusion from Primary Education in Slums of Dhaka, Bangladesh. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 45. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA46. Williams, S.E. (2010) Exploring the Viability of School-Based Support for Vulnerable Children: A case study of two township schools in Johannesburg. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 46. Johannesburg/ Brighton: Wits EPU/ University of Sussex
- PTA47. Taylor, N, Mabogoane, T, Shindler, J and Akoobhai, B. (2010) Seeds of Their Struggle: The Features of Under- and Overage Enrolment Among Grade 4 Learners in South Africa. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 47. Johannesburg/ Brighton: Wits EPU/ University of Sussex
- PTA48. Hossain, A. (2010) Age in Grade Congruence and Progression in Basic Education in Bangladesh. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 48. Dhaka/Brighton: BRAC/University of Sussex.
- PTA49. Sabates, R, Hossain, A., Lewin, K. M., (2010) School Drop Out in Bangladesh: New Insights from Longitudinal Evidence CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 48. Dhaka/Brighton: BRAC/University of Sussex.
- PTA50. Siddhu, G., (2010) Can Families in Rural India Bear the Additional Burden of Secondary Education? Investigating the Determinants of Transition, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 50. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA51. Hossain, A. and Zeitlyn, B., (2010), *Poverty and Equity: Access to Education in Bangladesh*, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 51. Dhaka/Brighton: BRAC/University of Sussex.

- PTA52. Lewin, K. M., and Sabates, R. (2011) Changing Patterns of Access to Education in Anglophone and Francophone Countries in Sub Saharan Africa: Is Education for All Pro-Poor? CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 52. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA53. Lewin, K. M, (2011) Beyond Universal Access to Elementary Education in India: Is it Achievable at Affordable Costs? CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 53. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA54. Lewin, K. M., (2011) Taking Targets to Task Revisited: How Indicators of Progress on Access to Education can Mislead, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 54. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA55. Ananga, E., (2011) *Dropping Out of School in Southern Ghana: The Push-out and Pull-out Factors*, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 55. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA56. Obanya, P. (2011) *Politics and the Dilemma of Meaningful Access to Education: The Nigerian Story*, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 55. London: Institute of Education
- PTA57. Ahmed, M. (2011) *The Sector-wide Approach in Bangladesh Primary Education: A Critical View*, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 57. Dhaka: BRAC.
- PTA58. Sharma, A., (2011) South Asian Nomads A Literature Review, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 58. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA59. Rolleston, C., (2011) Fosterage and Access to Schooling in Savelugu-Nanton, Ghana, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 59. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA60 Orkin, K., (2011) 'If God wills...next year I will send her back to school': The Effects of Child and Parental Illness on School Participation in Rural Ethiopia, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 60. London: Institute of Education
- PTA61 Lewin, K. M., Lu, Wang (2011) *Education and Change in Rich, Poor and National Minority Areas in China Two Decades of Transition,* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 61. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA62 Sabates, R., Westbrook, J., Hernandez-Fernandez, J (2011) *The Health and Education Benefits of Universal Primary Education for the Next Generation: Evidence from Tanzania,* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 62. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA63 Biswal, K (2011) Secondary Education in India: Development Policies, Programmes and Challenges, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 63. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/ University of Sussex.
- PTA64 Sabates, Hernandez-Fernandez (2011) *The role of maternal education during educational expansion for children in Sub-Saharan Africa.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 64. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA65 Govinda, R., Bandyopadhyay, M (2011) *Overcoming Exclusion through Quality Schooling,* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 65. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/ University of Sussex.
- PTA66 Ampiah J.G., Adu-Yeboah, C (2011) Understanding the Social and Economic Lives of Never-enrolled Children: A Case Study of Communities in Northern and Southern Ghana, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 66. Accra/Brighton: University of Cape Coast Ghana/ University of Sussex.
- PTA67 Bermingham D (2011) The Interactions between Global Education Initiatives and National Education Policy and Planning Processes: A Comparative Case Study of the Education for all Fast Track Initiative in Rwanda and Ethiopia. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 67. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA68 Buxton C (2011) The Impact of Malnutrition on Access to Primary Education: Case Studies from Ghana. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 68. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PT69 Akaguri L (2011) Quality Low-Fee Private Schools for the Rural Poor: Perception or reality? Evidence from Southern Ghana. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 69. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA70 Mwansa A (2011) *Re-entry to School after Giving Birth: An Evaluation of the Process used to Design and Implement Policy in Zambia.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 70. London: Institute of Education.

- PTA71 Akyeampong A (2011 (*Re*)Assessing the Capitation of School Capitation Grants on Education Access in Ghana. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 71. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA72 Rolleston C., Akyeampong K., Ampiah J.G., Lewin K.M (2011) Access, Transitions and Equity in Education in Ghana. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 72. Accra/Brighton: University of Cape Coast Ghana/ University of Sussex.
- PTA73 Little A., Indika H.N.U., Rolleston C (2011) *Access, Attendance and Achievement in Rural Schools in Sri Lanka.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 73. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA74 Lewin K.M., Somerset H.C.A., Wasanga P., Wanderi E (2011) *Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 74. Brighton: University of Sussex.

COUNTRY POLICY BRIEFS AND RESEARCH SUMMARIES

- Educational Access in South Africa 2008 / 2010
- Educational Access in Bangladesh 2008 / 2010
- Educational Access in Ghana 2008 / 2010
- Educational Access in India 2009 / 2010

INTERNATIONAL POLICY BRIEFS

- Policy Brief No 1: Reconceptualising Access to Education
- Policy Brief No 2: Access, Age and Grade
- Policy Brief No 3: Impact of Health in Education Access and Achievement
- Policy Brief No 4: Size Matters for EFA
- Policy Brief No 5: Increasing Access through Multigrade Teaching and Learning
- Policy Brief No 8: Dropping out from School

BANGLADESH POLICY BRIEFS

- Policy Brief No 1: Education for the Urban Poor in Bangladesh
- Policy Brief No. 2: Equity and Access to Education in Bangladesh
- Policy Brief No. 3: Diverse Providers of Primary Education in Bangladesh
- Policy Brief No. 4: Applying a Workable Education SWAP in Bangladesh
- Policy Brief No. 5: Access to Education and Age in Grade in Bangladesh
- Policy Brief No. 6: Preventing Dropout in Bangladesh

GHANA POLICY BRIEFS

- Policy Brief No 1: Typologies of Drop Out in Southern Ghana
- Policy Brief No 2: Complementary Education and Access to Primary Schooling in Northern Ghana
- Policy Brief No 3: Public and Private Schooling in Rural Ghana: Are the Poor Being Served?
- Policy Brief No 4: Fosterage and Educational Access Among the Dagomba of Savelugu-Nanton, Ghana

INDIA POLICY BRIEFS

- Policy Brief No. 1: Pre Primary Education in India
- Policy Brief No. 2: The Limits of Marketisation of Primary Education in India
- Policy Brief No. 3: Absenteeism, Repetition and Silent Exclusion in India
- Policy Brief No. 4: Effective School Management Committees
- Policy Brief No. 5: Teachers and Teaching in India

SOUTH AFRICA POLICY BRIEFS

- Policy Brief No 1: "No fee" schools in South Africa
- Policy Brief No 2: The Education Roadmap in South Africa
- Policy Brief No 3: Access to Learning Mathematics Performance in Schools in Gauteng and Eastern Cape
- Policy Brief No. 4: Parental Participation and Meaningful Access in South African Schools
- Policy Brief No. 5: At School But Not Learning: A Day in the Life of South African Learners

JOURNAL ARTICLES

Special Edition on CREATE: Comparative Education Special Issue (2009) Access to Education in Sub-Saharan Africa. Keith M Lewin and Kwame Akyeampong (editors) Vol. 45 (2)

- Lewin, K and K. Akyeampong: Education in sub-Saharan Africa: researching access, transitions and equity (editorial)
- Lewin, K: Access to education in sub-Saharan Africa: patterns, problems and possibilities
- Akyeampong, K.: Revisiting Free Compulsory Universal Basic Education (FCUBE) in Ghana
- Rolleston, C.: The determination of exclusion: evidence from the Ghana Living Standards Surveys 1991–2006
- Ghartey Ampiah, J. and C. Adu-Yeboah: Mapping the incidence of school dropouts: a case study of communities in Northern Ghana
- Somerset, A.: Universalising primary education in Kenya: the elusive goal
- Motala, S., Dieltiens, V. and Y. Sayed: Physical access to schooling in South Africa: mapping dropout, repetition and age-grade progression in two districts
- Fleisch, B. and J. Shindler: Gender repetition: school access, transitions and equity in the 'Birth-to-Twenty' cohort panel study in urban South Africa
- Gilmour, D. and C. Soudien: Learning and equitable access in the Western Cape, South Africa
- Chimombo, J. Changing patterns of access to basic education in Malawi: a story of a mixed bag?

Special Edition on CREATE: Access to Basic Education in Sub Saharan Africa and South Asia Policies, Politics and Progress Angela W. Little and Keith M. Lewin (editors) Journal of Educational Policy Vol 26:4 201

- Essuman, A., and Akyeampong, K., (2011) Decentralisation Policy in Practice in Ghana: the promise and reality of community participation in education in two rural communities
- Little, A. W., (2011) Education Policy Reform in Sri Lanka: the double-edged sword of political will
- Somerset, A., (2011) Access, Cost and Quality: tensions among three goals in the development of primary education in Kenya
- Hoppers, W., (2011) The Politics of Diversifying Basic Education Delivery: a comparative analysis from East Africa
- Ward, M., (2011) Aid to Education: the case of Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan in India and the role of development partners
- Bermingham, D., (2011) The Politics of Global Education Policy: the formation of the Education for All Fast Track Initiative
- Lewin, K. M., (2011) Target Setting and Target Getting in EFA Policy and in EFA Practice

Special Edition on CREATE:. Access, Equity and Transitions in Education in Low Income Countries . Keith Lewin, Angela Little and Frances Hunt (editors), International Journal of Educational Development. Vol 31:4.

• Lewin, K. M. and Little, A., (2011) Access to education revisited: Equity, drop out and transitions to secondary school in South Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa, 333-337

- Ananga, E., (2011) Typology of School Dropout: the Dimensions and Dynamics of Dropout in Ghana, 374-381
- Akaguri, L., and Akyeampong, K., (2011) Fee-free public or low-fee private basic education in rural Ghana: What does it cost the poor?
- Buckland, S., (2011) Uncovering South Africa's 'New Apartheid': The challenges to Educational Access for Non-nationals in South Africa, 367-373
- Cameron, S., (2011) Whether and where to enrol: choosing a primary school in the slums of Dhaka, Bangladesh, 357-366
- Härmä, J., (2011) Low Cost Private schooling in India: Is it Pro Poor and Equitable? 350-356
- Lewin, K. M., (2011) Expanding access to secondary education: Can India catch up? 382-393
- Ohba, A., (2011) Abolition of secondary school fees in Kenya: Responses by the poor, 402-408
- Rolleston, C., (2011) Educational Access and Poverty Reduction: The Case of Ghana 1991-2006, 338-349
- Siddhu, G., (2011) Who makes it to secondary school? Determinants of transition to secondary schools in rural India, 394-401
- Turrent, V., (2011) Expanding Support for Education in Fragile States: What Role for the Education for All Fast Track Initiative? 409-416

Special Edition on CREATE: Universal primary education in South Asia: A right that remains elusive, R. Govinda and Manzoor Ahmed (editors) Prospects, Vol. 40, No. 3,

- Acedo, C., (2010) Expanding access to education with equity in South Asia,
- Sen , A., (2010) Primary schooling in West Bengal, Prospects, Vol. 40, No. 3
- Ahmed, M., and Govinda, R., (2010) Introduction, Universal primary education in South Asia: A right that remains elusive,
- Govinda, R., and Bandyopadhyay, M., (2010) Social exclusion and school participation in India: Expanding access with equity,
- Lohani, S., Balak Singh, R., and Lohani, J., (2010) Universal primary education in Nepal: Fulfilling the right to education,
- Jaffer, K., (2010) School inspection and supervision in Pakistan: Approaches and issues, *Prospects*, Vol. 40, No. 3
- Us-Sabur, Z., and Ahmed, M., (2010) Multiple providers and access to primary education: The case of Bangladesh,
- Ginsburg, C., Richter, L.M., Fleisch, B. and Norris, S.A. (2010) An analysis of associations between residential and school mobility and educational outcomes in South African urban children: The Birth to Twenty cohort.

Fleisch, B, Shindler, J and Perry, H. (2010) Who is out of school? Evidence from the Community Survey 2007, South Africa.

• Other Journal Articles

- Blum, N. (2009) Small NGO schools in India: implications for access and innovation. Compare. Vol. 39 (2).
- Motala, S. (2009) Privatising public schooling in post-apartheid South Africa equity considerations. Compare. Vol. 39 (2).
- Motala, S. and V. Dieltiens (2008) Caught in the ideological crossfire: private schooling in South Africa. Southern African Review of Education. Vol. 14 (3).
- Lewin, K. (2007) Why some Education for All and millennium development goals will not be met: Difficulties with goals and targets. Southern African Review of Education. Vol. 13 (2).
- Rolleston, C. and M. Oketch (2008) Educational Expansion in Ghana: Economic Assumptions and Expectations. International Journal of Educational Development. Vol. 28.
- Oketch, M. and C. Rolleston (2007) Policies on Free Primary and Secondary Education in East Africa: Retrospect and Prospect. Review of Research in Education. Vol. 31.

Books

- R. Govinda (ed), (2011) 'Who Goes to School? Exploring Exclusion in Indian Education', Oxford University Press, Delhi, India (2011).
- Manzoor Ahmed (ed), 2011) 'Education in Bangladesh: Overcoming Hurdles to Equity and Quality', BRAC University Press, Dhaka, Bangladesh (2011).
- Shireen Motala, Veerle Dieltiens, Yusuf Sayed (eds) (2011) 'Finding Place and Keeping Pace? Exploring Meaningful and Equitable Learning in South African Schools'. Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC) Press, Pretoria, South Africa.
- Lalage Bown (ed), (2009), Maintaining Universal Primary Education: Lessons from Commonwealth Africa. Commonwealth Secretariat, London
- Keith M Lewin (2012) Educational Access, Equity and Development: Issues for Planners. International Institute of Educational Planning, UNESCO, Paris.
- Keith M Lewin (2011) Making Rights Realities: Researching Eduational Access, Transitions and Equity. Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity (CREATE), Centre for International Education, University of Sussex.



Report summary:

This paper explores aspects of exclusion from education and how patterns of participation have been changing using national data sets from eight countries. The first part of the analysis charts enrolments by grade over the last decade and explores how enrolment has been changing in terms of grade, gender, and age. A detailed case study of changes in participation and performance is developed using data from the Kenya National Examinations Council. The study shows that the aspirations of Education for All remain far from being met in many countries and many of those who enrol in Grade 1 fail to complete primary or lower secondary school. Progress has been patchy and it remains the case that less than half the age group progressing through lower secondary school. Gender equity is within grasp in the eight countries. However, in all the countries many of those enrolled remain seriously over-age, and urban rural differences persist. These patterns are mirrored in Kenya where there has been uneven growth in participation and where older children score on average much lower on the KPCE than younger children. This is a source of considerable inequity since over-age status is associated with poverty.

Author notes:

Keith M Lewin is Director of CREATE and Professor of Education, Centre for International Education, University of Sussex. He has worked on education and development for over 35 years in Africa and Asia and has special interests in educational planning and finance, access and equity, assessment and performance, and teacher education.

Anthony Somerset is a Visiting Research Fellow in the Centre for International Education, University of Sussex. He was Head of Research at the Kenya National Examinations Council from its inception in 1979 to 1981, and returned to the Council in mid-2011 to assist with the preparation of this monograph.

Paul Wasanga is Secretary of the Kenya National Examinations Council and is the current President of the Association for Educational Assessment in Africa.

Ephraim Wanderi is Deputy Secretary in charge of ICT services, Kenya National Examinations Council. He has worked with the Council for more than three decades

Address for Correspondence: CREATE, Centre for International Education Department of Education, School of Education & Social Work Essex House, University of Sussex, Falmer, BN1 9QQ, UK. Website: / Email: create@sussex.ac.uk









versity of Sussex



